
 

 

           TO:  Members of City Council 

     FROM:  Michael Gallegos, City Clerk’s Office 

      DATE:  December 15, 2015 

SUBJECT:  Information Packet 
 

 
1. CALL UPS 

 None 
   

2. INFORMATION ITEMS 
 A. Open Space and Mountain Parks Agricultural Resources Management Plan Update 
 B. Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail 
   

3. BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
 A. Board of Zoning Adjustment – October 8, 2015 
 B. Library Commission – September 2, 2015 
 C. Open Space Board of Trustees – November 16, 2015 
 D. Planning Board – October 29, 2015 
 E. Planning Board – November 5, 2015 
 F. Planning Board – November 19, 2015 
   

4. DECLARATIONS 
 None 
   

 

Packet Page 957



 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Tracy Winfree, Director of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
 Kacey French, Open Space and Mountain Parks Planner I 
 Lauren Kolb, Open Space and Mountain Parks Natural Resource Specialist 
 
Date:   December 15, 2015 
 
Subject: Information Item: Update on the Open Space and Mountain Parks Agricultural 

Resources Management Plan  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
As part of the Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Agricultural Resources Management 
Plan (Ag Plan) staff has analyzed and developed preliminary recommendations on several “Tier 
One” topics: 

• Increasing the availability of OSMP lands for diversified vegetable farms and micro-
dairies 

• Identifying areas for the management and conservation of bobolinks (a grassland bird) 
• Evaluating the suitability/feasibility of other alternative agricultural uses 
• Developing a policy surrounding structures such as greenhouses and their appropriateness 

on OSMP lands 
 
The Ag Plan is a component of the Agricultural and Local Foods Initiative identified by council 
as part of their 2014-2015 goals and is intended to address the major contributions of OSMP to 
this initiative.  A community open house and Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) study 
session was held in 2014 on the scope and planning process.  A community comment period and 
another study session was held in the summer of 2015 on the tier one topics1.  Staff anticipates 
presenting a draft Ag Plan to City Council in the third quarter of 2016.   
 

1 The bobolink management area analysis was not completed at the time of the study session.  The diversified 
vegetable farm and micro-dairy analysis was partially completed, it did not include staff recommendations.     

Packet Page 958



FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There are no anticipated impacts to the 2016 budget.  Should the plan be accepted by City 
Council, budget requests related to implementation are anticipated to begin as part of the 2017 
budget process.  The requests will likely be a combination of one-time and ongoing investments, 
and are likely to include funding for the costs of converting OSMP lands to diversified vegetable 
farms and/or pasture-based micro-dairies.  The one-time cost for converting OSMP land to a 
vegetable farm or dairy is estimated to range from approximately $175,000 to $750,000 per 
operation.  The costs to establish a pasture-based micro-dairy is likely to start at approximately 
$250,000.  The costs are largely associated with updating the necessary infrastructure. Ongoing 
costs for program and system maintenance as well as the fiscal impacts of the other plan 
recommendations are being evaluated and will be presented later in the planning process.  The 
draft plan will also address how investments to agricultural structures are made and evaluate cost 
sharing models between OSMP and lessees.     
  
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
• Economic: Locally grown food generates more income for the local economy.  For every 

dollar spent purchasing local food, the community will realize $2 to $3 in economic 
development benefits.2  Supporting local agriculture promotes a diverse local economy.   
 

• Environmental: Acquisition and management of land for local farming helps preserve 
agricultural lands and keep them from development.  OSMP’s land management practices 
seek to minimize the impacts of agricultural production to other resources.  Many of the Ag 
Plan components are aimed at ensuring the long-term sustainability of agricultural operations 
and the ecological health of OSMP lands.  

 
• Social: The preservation of local agriculture provides an opportunity for people to reconnect 

with the land, local farms, farmers, and their food.  One of the objectives of the Ag. Plan is to 
establish and strengthen these connections.   

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Agricultural Resources Management Plan is a component of the Agriculture and Local 
Foods Initiative identified by City Council as part of their 2014-2015 goals and is intended to 
address the major contributions of OSMP to this initiative.  The Ag Plan is also intended to 
address the relevant strategies identified in the Open Space and Mountain Parks Grassland 
Ecosystem Management Plan (approved by the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) in 
2009, accepted by City Council in 2010).   The goal of the Agricultural Resources 
Management Plan is to ensure the long-term sustainability of agricultural operations and 
the ecological health of OSMP lands while fostering connections among community 
members and local agriculture. 
 
The main Ag Plan components include: 

2 Source: Kleppel, Gary. 2014.The Emergent Agriculture: Farming, Sustainability and the Return of the Local 
Economy.  New Society Publishers. 192 pp. 

Packet Page 959



1. Develop a protocol to sample percent soil organic matter.  Set the standards and refine the 
ratings that will define desired conditions. 

2. Increase diversified vegetable farming. 
3. Develop an IPM policy specific to OSMP agricultural lands. 
4. Develop a policy surrounding agricultural structures, such as greenhouses, and their 

appropriateness on OSMP lands. 
5. Evaluate the suitability/feasibility of other alternative agricultural uses. 
6. Evaluate alternative lease rate policies and update the OSMP policy. 
7. Develop a measure and protocol to assess grazing lands.  Set standards/refine ratings that 

will define desired conditions.   
8. Identify and prioritize improvements to fencing alignments, livestock facilities, and 

stocking rates, timing and duration to improve flexibility in grazing management and to 
allow for rotational/deferred rest.   

9. Determine the best location(s) for grass banks. 
10. Determine the best locations for bobolink management 
11. Determine where management could be improved and reiterate the Ute ladies’-tresses 

orchid strategies in the Grassland Plan. 
12. Foster connections between the community and agricultural operations.  
13. Examine ways to establish connections between producers and local 

consumers/community. 
14. Prioritize improvements to the irrigation delivery system.   

 
Based upon the input received during the OSBT study session in June 2015 and staff 
identification of the plan components that develop new policies, staff identified four “Tier One” 
topics.  Staff has included the analyses for these topics in Attachments A-D.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Diversified Vegetable Farms and Micro-Dairies 
OSMP staff analyzed the current (2015) OSMP land system to identify the best opportunities for 
diversified vegetable farming and pasture-based micro-dairies (Attachment A). 

In the Best Opportunity Analysis staff first identified OSMP properties which have suitable soils, 
adequate water availability, and the necessary infrastructure, or the “essential agricultural 
characteristics” to support diversified vegetable farming or a pasture-based micro-dairy.3  The 
properties which met these essential agricultural characteristics were classified as candidates for 
further analysis.  Twenty-three properties met the criteria, five of these contain the necessary 
infrastructure that could be improved to support a pasture-based micro-dairy.  

However, there are other open space values associated with these properties that need to be 
considered in order to make recommendations about which properties are most well suited for 
conversion to diversified agricultural production or a micro-dairy.  The second phase of the 
analysis focused on evaluating the compatibility of the candidate properties with Visitor Master 
Plan (VMP) management area designations, existing resource management goals from OSBT 
and City Council approved plans, and other resources including sensitive species.   

3 All of the properties with the infrastructure to support micro-dairies are located on properties that meet the soil and 
water requirements.   

Packet Page 960



Staff determined that nine sites, comprised of 11 properties, were suitable for a diversified 
vegetable farm, dairy, or either.  The acreage dedicated to growing vegetables will be determined 
by market demand, the availability of qualified operators and the size of farm they seek to 
operate.  The range of acres converted to vegetable farming could range from 80–253 acres, with 
only half (40-127 acres) tilled or in production at a given time. 

All sites will require infrastructure improvements before they can be used for vegetable farming.  
Staff estimated the conversion and maintenance costs for each of the recommended sites.  Staff 
also identified management strategies to minimize impacts to other resources and guide the 
conversion and management of the recommended properties.   

Class B Bobolink Management Areas 
OSMP’s goal of establishing or continuing agricultural management practices that support 
nesting habitat for bobolinks was established in the Grassland Plan.  To this end, a select number 
of hayfields were to be mowed after bobolink fledging, July 15 unless otherwise determined by 
monitoring.  The Ag Plan picked up where the Grassland Plan left off, identifying a sufficient 
number of hayfields to be managed as Class B Management Areas in order to meet the standard 
identified in the Grassland Plan.  Staff identified 18 fields, totaling 301 acres, to be designated as 
Class B Bobolink Management Areas. (Attachment B).    

Alternative Agricultural Uses 
For the purpose of the analysis, alternative agricultural is defined as activities and enterprises 
that are related to but not required for agricultural production and provide opportunities for 
producers to diversify their income and/or market their produce.  Examples of alternative 
agricultural include farm stands, farm events, and “agritainment” (harvest festivals, petting zoos, 
“u-pick” operations, corn mazes, etc.).  City policy has not allowed alternative agricultural uses 
on OSMP lands, and there has been no significant demand among lessees for them. 
Staff recognizes that alternative agricultural activities have the potential to improve the 
economic viability of agricultural operations and provide OSMP visitors opportunities to 
connect with the land and agricultural heritage of the Boulder Valley.  However, like other 
activities proposed for open space lands, staff wished to ensure that prior to recommending any 
alternative agricultural activities, they were consistent with policy guidance and the other 
purposes of OSMP.  In response to the wide range of activities with significant differences 
among them, staff chose to assess the activities by category and adapted a pre-existing 
framework to consider which, if any, forms of alternative agriculture would be most 
appropriate for OSMP.  The following table lists the categories and criteria used for this 
analysis. 
 

Category Criterion 

Relationship to setting 
 

Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP lands 
Ability to increase people’s appreciation of agriculture or 
understanding of Open Space purposes. 

Compatibility with resource protection Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural resources 
Compatibility with existing facilities and services Compatibility with a low level of existing facilities and 

services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, 
monitoring, etc.) 
Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 

Compatibility with other activities Compatibility with other recreational activities/other visitor’s 
experiences 

 

Packet Page 961



Activities in the categories of agritainment, farm events, community gardens, food forests, 
farm stands/stores and demonstration farms/farm camps were evaluated against these criteria.  
When issues or considerations emerged, staff responded by developing mitigating strategies to 
improve the compatibility of the activity.  In all cases the assessments only considered the 
alternative activities as accessory uses and occurring as part of operations where agricultural 
production remained the primary purpose of the operation.   
 
Staff concluded that the following alternative agricultural activities were most compatible with 
the evaluation criteria: 

• U-pick Operations  
• Farm to Table Dinners 
• Farm Stands/Stores 
• Demonstration Farms/Farm Camps (but not as part of the existing agricultural lease 

program) 
 
Attachment C contains the full analysis for all activities.  Staff recommends an incremental 
phasing in of alternative activities to give OSMP lease managers and other stakeholders an 
opportunity to gain experience and make adjustments in response to the new activities on 
OSMP lands. 
 
Agricultural Structures  
The necessity of structures for agricultural production predates the current and increasing interest 
in local foods.  In fact, the City Charter (Section 176) anticipated the need for improvements to 
support agricultural operations in 1986 when it was amended to include the following (emphasis 
added): 
 
Open space land may not be improved after acquisition unless such improvements are necessary to protect or 
maintain the land or to provide for passive recreational, open agricultural, or wildlife habitat use of the land.  
 
There are a number of structures that have been in use on OSMP for decades in support of 
livestock and hay production operations such as barns, corrals, loafing sheds, livestock shelters 
and storage sheds.  In most instances these structures predate OSMP’s ownership, and use by 
lessees has demonstrated their necessity.  No changes are being recommended for these 
structures. 
 
The growing interest in local diversified vegetable production has resulted in an increased 
interest in structures like greenhouses and hoophouses that can extend the growing season 
increasing yields and potentially profits.  Therefore these structures are the focus of staff’s 
analysis.  The focus on hoophouses and greenhouses resulted in the development of a framework 
that could be used to consider other replacement or new structures (Attachment D).    
 
Staff considers hoophouses to be a structure consistent with Charter language and policy 
guidance.  While there may be future designs for greenhouses that make them more cost 
effective and energy efficient, current technology is not available to address these criteria, and 
staff is not recommending including greenhouses as structures appropriate for construction on 
OSMP lands.  
 

Packet Page 962



Attachment D provides the full analysis and recommendations for agricultural structures on 
OSMP. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 
OSMP staff will continue to develop recommendations for the remaining plan components, 
working with lessees, the community, and partner agencies.  Staff anticipates meeting with 
current OSMP lessee’s in the first quarter of 2016.   
 

Draft Plan Components 
Presented  

Plan Components Under Development 

• Increase diversified vegetable 
farming. 

• Develop a policy surrounding 
agricultural structures, such as 
greenhouses, and their 
appropriateness on OSMP 
lands. 

• Evaluate the 
suitability/feasibility of other 
alternative agricultural uses. 

• Determine the best locations for 
bobolink management 

 

• Develop a protocol to sample percent soil organic 
matter.  Set the standards and refine the ratings that 
will define desired conditions. 

• Develop an IPM policy specific to OSMP agricultural 
lands. 

• Evaluate alternative lease rate policies and update the 
OSMP policy. 

• Develop a measure and protocol to assess grazing 
lands.  Set standards/refine ratings that will define 
desired conditions.   

• Identify and prioritize improvements to fencing 
alignments, livestock facilities, and stocking rates, 
timing and duration to improve flexibility in grazing 
management and to allow for rotational/deferred rest.   

• Determine the best location(s) for grass banks. 
• Determine where management could be improved and 

reiterate the Ute ladies’-tresses orchid strategies in the 
Grassland Plan. 

• Foster connections between the community and 
agricultural operations.  

• Examine ways to establish connections between 
producers and local consumers/community. 

• Prioritize improvements to the irrigation delivery 
system.   

 
 
Staff will hold a community meeting and distribute a draft plan for community input in the 
second quarter of 2016.  Staff will present a draft plan to the Open Space Board of Trustees in 
the third quarter of 2016.  Staff anticipates bringing a draft plan to City Council for their 
approval later in the third quarter of 2016.    
 
 
 

Packet Page 963



ATTACHMENTS:   
A:  Best Opportunity Analysis for Diversified Vegetable Farming and Micro-Dairies 
B:  Evaluation and Identification of Class B Bobolink Management Areas 
C:  Analysis of Alternative Agricultural Uses 
D:  Analysis of Agricultural Structures 
 

Packet Page 964



Best Opportunity Analysis for  
Diversified Vegetable Farms and Micro-Dairies 
 

 
Background and Purpose 

Supporting local agricultural producers is a longstanding tradition at OSMP.  Environmental constraints such as soil quality and 
water availability limit most of the agricultural production on OSMP lands to livestock or hay/forage production rather than 
diversified vegetable farming.  The recent and growing interest from Boulder’s city leaders and the general community to support 
a greater diversity of local foods has led OSMP staff to evaluate the suitability of OSMP lands for diversified vegetable 
production.  The purpose of this Best Opportunity Analysis is to identify OSMP properties most appropriate for diversified 
vegetable farming and/or for operating pasture-based micro-dairies. 

Farmers commonly desire to keep pastured livestock in conjunction with a vegetable farm as it is both economical and a 
sustainable agricultural practice.  Produce unfit to market or surplus can be fed to pastured livestock which in turn results in 
either a modest source of additional income (e.g. selling eggs or meat) and/or food.  In this analysis, the term “diversified 
vegetable farming” includes the option for farmers to keep pastured livestock.    

Micro-dairies are pasture-based dairies where the number of animals permitted is typically based on the property’s zoning 
designation and parcel size. For example, in areas zoned Agricultural in Boulder County, four animal units per acre are permitted. 
Pasture-based dairies are distinguished from dairies with feed yards, because the animals graze in pastures rather than being fed 
in yards where feed is imported to sustain a higher density of animals than the vegetation would support.  Micro-dairies or 
pasture-based dairies were included in this analysis because they are comparable to other types of livestock grazing and the 
infrastructure necessary for this type of operation already exists on several OSMP properties. Only properties with existing 
supporting infrastructure were considered for pasture-based micro-dairies.   

There are currently five properties on OSMP lands with 27 acres in diversified vegetable farming and no micro- dairies.  

Packet Page 965



The analysis first identified OSMP properties which have 
suitable soils, adequate water availability, and have or are 
nearby infrastructure necessary to support diversified 
vegetable farming.

Methodology 

1

The candidate properties were then evaluated for 
compatibility with management area designations, 
existing resource management goals and other resources 
including sensitive species.  (The evaluation criteria are 
described in greater detail below.)  Staff conducted a site-
specific evaluation of the infrastructure at each candidate 
property to determine which type(s) of operation the 
existing infrastructure is best suited to support.  Staff then 
developed a recommendation for each of the candidate 
properties.  Staff identified management strategies to 
minimize impacts to other resources and to guide the 
conversion and management of the properties identified 
for diversified vegetable farming or a micro-dairy.  Staff 
also estimated the costs of infrastructure improvements 
and other management actions to convert and maintain 
the property as a diversified vegetable farm and/or micro-
dairy.  

  (The evaluation criteria are described 
in greater detail below.)  The properties which met these 
essential agricultural characteristics were classified as 
candidates for further analysis. (Figure 1)   

1 All of the properties with the infrastructure to support micro-dairies are located on properties that meet the soil and water requirements.   

Figure 1: Candidate Properties 

Packet Page 966



Phase I Evaluation Criteria: Essential Agricultural Characteristics 
Infrastructure 
Diversified vegetable farming requires outbuildings suitable for prospective lessees/farmers to process and store their products.   
It is also customary for farmers to reside on the property, for reasons of convenience and efficiency, and as evidenced by the 
existence of residences on all of the properties with outbuildings.  In addition, on-site housing is often necessary to attract 
qualified lessees.  For this first phase of analysis, staff identified all OSMP properties with outbuildings and a residence to support 
diversified vegetable farming.  Recognizing that some OSMP lands could be used to expand existing farms, some properties 
lacking infrastructure were also retained as candidates if they were within 0.5 miles of an existing vegetable farm and met the 
soil and water eligibility requirements. 2

Soil Type  

 

The ability to use a property to cultivate vegetables is dependent on having a suitable soil type.   Suitable soil types have the right 
combination of physical and chemical characteristics such as texture, slope, pH and permeability.  Good agricultural soils cannot 
be excessively erodible because annual vegetable fields are dominated by bare ground for much of the year and are prone to 
erosion.  Poorly drained soils that are frequently waterlogged are also not well-suited for vegetable cultivation.   

In order to identify OSMP properties with suitable soils, staff referenced the local soil survey report.3

Staff determined properties comprised principally of soils in Capability Classes I through III were suitable for diversified vegetable 
farming, when managed with appropriate conservation practices.  Properties dominated by soils in Capability Classes IV, V, and 
VI pose severe cultivation limitations, such as being highly erodible, stony, or excessively wet. Staff determined these were not 
suitable for diversified vegetable farming. 

  The survey identifies the 
types and locations of soils found in eastern Boulder County, and groups soils into Capability Classes based upon their suitability 
for agricultural production.  As the Capability Class increases, so does the soils type’s limitations for agriculture.  Appendix A lists 
the soils in the various Capability Classes and identifies the corresponding limiting factors.    

4

Staff also set a minimum size requirement of 16 acres (equating to 8 acres tilled at one time).  This size addresses the relationship 
of farm size to income generating potential and also ensures the farmer can adequately rotate and rest fields from cultivation.   

   

2 Properties without infrastructure are dependent on the presence of a qualified lessee looking for property to expand their existing operations.   
3 Moreland D. and R. Moreland, 1975.  Soils survey of Boulder County Area, Colorado. United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service in 
cooperation with the Colorado Agricultural Experiment Station.   
4 Capability classes VII and VIII exist, however none of the properties with the necessary infrastructure are comprised of soils in these classes. In addition soils 
in capability classes VII and VIII have such severe limitations they are unsuited to cultivation.  

Packet Page 967



Water Availability 
 A reliable and adequate water supply is necessary to support diversified vegetable farming.  Both the volume of water available, 
as well as the timing and duration of water availability were used to evaluate a property’s potential for diversified vegetable 
farming.   

All of the properties with the necessary infrastructure and appropriate soils were evaluated to determine which met the water 
availability criterion.  Local agronomists recommend at least 1.5 acre-feet of water per acre for vegetable farming.  All of the 
properties with appropriate infrastructure and soils met the minimum criterion for water volume.  Diversified vegetable farming 
uses less water than the current existing hay and pasture operations due to the reliance upon more efficient drip and overhead 
irrigation systems than the flood irrigation used for hay/forage operations.5

In addition to requiring a minimum amount of water, diversified vegetable farming also requires that water be available 
throughout the growing season, which is typically longer for diversified vegetable production than for growing hay or pasture 
grasses.  Staff identified those properties which in addition to having sufficient water, have a long enough average duration of 
irrigated water to support vegetable farming.  Staff chose 100 consecutive days of water as the criterion for water duration.  This 
was based upon the water requirement for growing tomatoes.   Tomatoes are one of the most popular vegetables grown on 
diversified vegetable farms and take anywhere from 65 to 120 days to reach maturity which is representative or longer than the 
maturation time for most other types of vegetables grown in the Boulder Valley.   

   

Findings   
Twenty-three OSMP individual properties, meet the criterion for infrastructure, soils and water necessary for diversified vegetable 
farming (Figure 1).   The infrastructure, soils and water supply for each of the candidate properties are described in greater detail 
in the individual Property Assessments.   

5 Byelich, B, Cook J., and Rowley, C. Small Acreage Irrigation Guide.  Colorado State University and USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service. June 
2013.  
 

Packet Page 968



Phase II Evaluation Criteria 
 
Management Area Designations  
The Visitor Master Plan (VMP) categorizes OSMP lands under one of four management area designations: Agricultural, Passive 
Recreation, Natural and Habitat Conservation.  These designations provide the foundation for determining what types of 
opportunities/activities are allowed and the level of resource protection.   The management area designation and corresponding 
goals (Appendix B) of the candidate property and adjacent areas were evaluated for compatibility with diversified vegetable 
farming.    

While diversified vegetable farming may be a more obvious potential fit for properties designated as Agricultural Areas, 
properties with other management area designations were also evaluated to determine whether vegetable farming or micro-
dairies would be compatible with the area’s management objectives.   

Visitor Infrastructure/Resources 
Existing OSMP trails and conceptual trails identified in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan were considered, to the degree 
they crossed or approached candidate sites.   While visitor infrastructure or the associated activities may not preclude a property 
from being used for vegetable farming or as a micro-dairy, it may be necessary to implement management actions to mitigate 
potential conflicts.   

Prairie Dog Colony Management Designation and Occupation History 
Prairie dogs can dramatically modify the landscapes where they live, most noticeably by their burrowing and feeding (grazing), 
such activities are typically incompatible with irrigated agricultural production and agricultural water management.  Irrigation 
and related agricultural practices associated with diversified vegetable farming are likewise incompatible with the life 
requirements of prairie dogs.   

The OSMP Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan (Grassland Plan) identified management area designations for prairie dogs 
and associated species.  The management area designations were determined by evaluating factors such as prairie dog habitat 
suitability, block size, urbanization, recreational activities, irrigated agriculture and adjacent land management goals.  The 
prairie dog management area designations are Grassland Preserves, Multiple Objective Areas, Prairie Dog Conservation Areas, 
Transition Areas and Removal Areas.  The candidate properties were evaluated for compatibility with the management area 
designation of the property and surrounding lands.   Appendix C describes the management objectives of the various prairie dog 
management area designations.   

Packet Page 969



In addition to the prairie dog management area designation, historical (maximum extent) and current prairie dog occupation 
were also considered as prairie dogs will likely attempt to re-colonize lands previously occupied.  Where candidate properties or 
adjacent lands are or have been occupied, management costs and actions to prevent re-colonization were considered and 
included in the recommendations.   

Bobolink Management Areas 
The majority of the candidate properties are currently irrigated hayfields or pastures.  By virtue of historic irrigation, mowing and 
grazing practices, some of these semi-native hayfields and pastures support wildlife not commonly found elsewhere on OSMP 
lands such as bobolinks.  Bobolinks are grassland songbirds thought to be undergoing a non-cyclical population decline due to a 
variety of factors including habitat destruction.  Conservation of bobolink habitat has been part of OSMP’s land management 
since the 1980s.   

The Grassland Plan identified the goal of establishing or continuing agricultural management practices that support habitat for 
bobolinks by designating Bobolink Management Areas (Class A and Class B).  Converting a candidate property to a diversified 
vegetable farm or micro-dairy would preclude managing that portion of the property for bobolink habitat as it would no longer 
be an irrigated hayfield or pasture.   Several of the candidate properties were designated as Class B Bobolink Management Areas 
through a parallel process.       

Other Sensitive Species  
The presence of sensitive species and/or habitat on a candidate property was considered in determining the property’s suitability 
for diversified vegetable farming.  The sensitive species/habitats considered were: 

• Northern leopard frog habitat 
• Nesting raptors 
• Rare and state tracked plant populations and communities 
• Federally threatened or endangered species including Preble’s meadow jumping mouse occupied habitat and Ute ladies’ 

tresses (Spiranthes) orchid.   

Noxious Weeds 
Like other landowners in Colorado, OSMP is required to eliminate state “A-listed” and certain B-listed noxious weeds. 
Management may include the application of pesticides or herbicides.  While the presence of state noxious weeds required for 
elimination may not preclude a property from being converted to vegetable farming, it may affect the timeline for organic 

Packet Page 970



certification since in order to be certified, land must be pesticide free for at least three years.  A noxious weed infestation may 
also limit the quantity and quality of forage available for grazing.   

Cultural Resources 
Many of the candidate properties include historic structures or structures eligible for historical designation.  Staff determined 
that diversified vegetable farming is compatible with and in some cases may improve the condition of these cultural resources, as 
long as any improvements to the structures are done in accordance with the applicable preservation policies and laws.     

In addition to the structures, staff evaluated the candidate properties to determine if other cultural resources (prehistoric and 
historic archeological and paleontological) are present or known to exist on the candidate farms that would preclude the 
conversion of the property to a diversified vegetable farm.  Staff found none.  However, some of the properties have not been 
adequately surveyed.  For these properties the individual Property Assessments identify the need for a cultural resource survey.  
 If the survey identifies significant cultural resources that would or could be adversely affected by the conversion of the property, 
the agricultural management of the property will need to be revaluated and the property may be removed from consideration.     

Packet Page 971



Recommendations Summary 
When evaluating the individual properties during the 
Property Assessments, staff determined that in some 
instances, evaluating multiple adjacent properties as 
one site better reflected on-the-ground conditions and 
the true number of sites available for operators.  The 23 
individual properties were grouped into 13 potential 
sites for the assessments.       
 
Staff determined that nine sites, comprised of 11 
properties, were suitable for a diversified vegetable 
farm, dairy, or either. (Figure 2)    

Vegetable Farm and Micro-Dairy 
Recommendations 

Site 
Vegetable 

Farm 
Micro-
Dairy 

Johnson, Axelson East   
Bell, Teller   
Hartnagle, Warner   
Hunter Kolb, Kolb 
Brothers 

  

Isenhart – Jones   
King Hodgeson    
Kolb   
St. Walburga Abbey   
Lewis, Stengel-King, 
Baseline & 75th 

  

Not Recommended: Axelson West, Biddle, 
Deluca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton, Fell (4 
sites)  

Figure 2: Vegetable Farm and Micro-Dairy Recommendations Packet Page 972



Overarching Recommendations 
 
• Sites will be converted at a rate of one per year, or less according to demand.  

This is due to a desire to not “flood” the market and to avoid establishing more 
vegetable farms than can be supported.  In addition, all of the farms sites require 
substantial improvements to get the site ready to be leased.   

 
• Kolb, the only property recommended solely for a micro-dairy only (no 

vegetables) shall be converted first (if demand exists) so that additional demand 
for micro-dairies can be assessed. 
 

• Sites recommended for both vegetable farming and a micro-dairy shall only be 
converted to a micro-dairy if Kolb is leased and additional demand exists.  

 
• The four properties without infrastructure and recommended for vegetable 

farming will be converted opportunistically, as they rely on an existing farmer 
within 0 .5 miles desiring to expand operations.  Interested farmers wishing to 
expand will apply through an application process with similar criteria to the open 
bid process for other properties in an agricultural lease.   
 

• State listed A and B noxious weeds, and rhizomatous perennial invasive plant 
species shall be considered a high priority for treatment on fields recommended 
for diversified vegetable farming or pasture for a micro-dairy.6

 

  Early treatment 
may allow for some areas to transition to organic sooner or increase forage 
availability. 

• The conversion of areas to diversified vegetable farms shall not adversely affect 
or impact rare or sensitive plant communities, wetlands, or riparian areas.   

6 Treatment of these properties will need to be prioritized against all other Integrated Pest Management activities. 

Vegetable Farming and Dairy 
Recommendations At a Glance; 
 
Nine sites, comprised of 11 properties are 
recommended for vegetable farming, a 
micro-dairy, or either.   

Five of the recommended nine sites have 
the infrastructure necessary to establish a 
new diversified vegetable operation or 
micro-dairy.  The remaining four do not 
have infrastructure and can solely be used 
for expanding a nearby existing operation.     

Future potential operations may vary in 
size.   If demand exists along with a 
sufficient number of qualified lessees, it is 
possible that all eight vegetable sites could 
be converted to vegetable farms.  If this 
were to happen, the range of acres 
converted would be 80-253 acres, with 
only half tilled or in production at a given 
time (40-127acres).   

 

 

 
Packet Page 973



Figure 3: Kolb Suitable Lands 

Kolb 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

197 Total Acres, 39 Suitable Acres1 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Green Ditch May 27 – September 20  ~117 days 
Butte Irrigation and Milling Ditch May 19 – August 17 ~90 days 
Jones and Donnelly Ditch May 6 - October 28 ~175 days 
Domestic well2 N/A  

 

 

 

residence  ●  large barn (formerly used for milking and storage)  ●  shed  
●  two pole barns 

Infrastructure 

 

1 “Suitable Acres” refers to land that meets the soil and water requirements for diversified vegetable farming; does not include land suitable for pasture. 
2 Colorado Water Laws allow domestic wells to be used for livestock water as well as for irrigation up to one acre of land.   

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Loveland Soils 0-1% III 

Packet Page 974



Kolb 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 Figure 5: Kolb Trails, Management Area Designations, and Weeds Figure 4: Kolb Natural Resources 

Packet Page 975



Figure 6: Kolb Recommendations 

Kolb 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 
Micro-Dairy Pasture 80 
 
Provided demand, this property is recommended solely for a micro-
dairy; the property is not recommended for diversified vegetable 
farming.   

The entirety of the property is in a bald eagle closure.  The intensive 
agricultural activities associated with diversified vegetable farming are 
not compatible with, and likely to disturb, the nesting eagles.  Just as 
the existing livestock operation exists, the grazing that would occur as 
part of a pasture-based dairy could occur here without disturbing the 
eagles or affecting the ecological values associated with the property 
and surrounding HCA.  The pasture-based dairy will change the 
temporal grazing of the property from winter grazing to year round; 
temporarily restricting portions of the property to grazing activities 
can mitigate any impacts associated with the year long grazing.   

The maximum extent for a micro-dairy is approximately 80 acres.  The 
location of the pasture area will be determined on an annual basis, 
and may change from year to year according to the vegetation 
management goals, which currently use prescriptive grazing to achieve 
the desired vegetation cover, and the location of the eagles.   

Packet Page 976



Kolb 

 
Management Actions and Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up property $ 10,000 
Assess the residence and outbuildings to determine if they are historically significant $10,000 
Rehabilitate residence $250,000 
Rehabilitate existing barns and outbuildings  $100,000 
Renovate the milking barn3 $50,000  
Perform site-specific mapping and evaluation of rare or sensitive plan communities, 
wetlands, and riparian areas 

$0 

Total Cost Estimate: $420,000 

3 Subject to local, state and federal oversight via Boulder County Public Health, Colorado Department of Agriculture and the U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration  

Packet Page 977



Figure 7: Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers Suitable Lands 

Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

57 Total Acres, 42 Suitable Acres 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Enterprise Ditch May 16 – August 8 ~84 days 
Cottonwood # 2 Ditch May 16 – September 12 ~119 days 
Two domestic wells N/A 

 

 

 

residence  ●  four outbuildings  ● milking barn ● loafing shed  ● tower silo ● 
grain bin  ●  livestock shelter   

Infrastructure 

 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3% II 

Packet Page 978



Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

Figure 9: Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers Trails, Management Area 
Designations, and Weeds 

Figure 8: Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers Natural Resources 

Packet Page 979



Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
42 
21  in production 

Micro-Dairy Pasture 47 
 
Provided demand, this property is recommended for a diversified 
vegetable farm, or micro-dairy.  The recommended area avoids 
sensitive natural resources and is in an Agricultural Area. This 
property is only to be considered for a micro-dairy if Kolb, which is 
solely suitable for a micro-dairy operation, is leased.  

Figure X: Hartnagle, Warner Recommendations 

Figure 10: Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers Recommendations 

Packet Page 980



Hunter-Kolb, Kolb Brothers 

 
Management Actions and Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up property $ 15,000 
Rehabilitate residence1 $250,000 - $350,000  
Perform a historic structures assessment on the outbuildings $5,000 
Rehabilitate or reconstruct the outbuildings $80,000 
Rehabilitate or reconstruct an outbuilding to accommodate a cooler and wash area $30,000 
Construct a small (1/10 acre-foot) irrigation pond near the Cottonwood #2 headgate to 
facilitate delivery of irrigation water to any planting beds  

$5,000 

Construct interior fence to separate vegetable fields from grazing areas. $10,000 
Construct interior fence to protect the riparian area and rare plant communities 
surrounding Dry Creek from potential grazing activity  (The necessity of this 
management action is dependent on whither a micro-dairy operation is selected for the 
property) 

$0 -$10,000 

Renovate the milking barn. (The necessity of this management action is dependent on 
whether a micro-dairy operation is selected for the property) 

$ 0 -$50,000 

Perform site specific mapping and evaluation of rare or sensitive plan communities, 
wetlands, and riparian areas on field 448 

$0 

Total Cost Estimate: $395,000 - $555,000 

1 A historic structures assessment was completed in 2014 and identified critical work to stabilize the house.  This work was completed in 2015 at a cost of 
$30,000. 

Packet Page 981



Figure 11: DeLuca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton Suitable Lands 

DeLuca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

242 Total Acres, 138 Suitable Acres 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Left Hand Ditch April 1 – October 31 ~210 days 

 

 

 

 
 

 

residence  ●  attached garage  ●  two outbuildings ●  
Infrastructure 

small storage shed  ● two small barns (Campbell) 

 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability 
Class 

DeLuca 
Valmont clay loam 1-3%, 3-5% III 
Hester, Campbell, Stratton 
Valmont clay loam 1-3% III 

Packet Page 982



DeLuca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

Figure 13: DeLuca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton Trails, Management 
Area Designations, and Weeds 

Figure 12: DeLuca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton Natural 
 

Packet Page 983



DeLuca, Campbell, Hester, Stratton 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

This property is not recommended for a diversified vegetable farm, or micro-dairy.   

This property supports high numbers of breeding bobolinks and was designated as a Class B Bobolink Management Area 
(through a parallel Ag Plan process), necessitating the retention of the current agricultural use, hay production.   Both diversified 
vegetable production and the grazing associated with a micro-dairy are incompatible with the management actions associated 
with the Class B Bobolink Management Area designation and habitat needs of bobolinks.   

Packet Page 984



Figure X: Hartnagle, Warner Suitable Lands 
Figure 14: Hartnagle, Warner Suitable Lands 

Hartnagle, Warner 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

84 Total Acres, 80 Suitable Acres 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
1/3 interest in the storage 
water rights to Teller Lake #5 

Not a reliable water source (junior 
water rights) 

Hartnagle 
Dry Creek Davidson Ditch May 21 – September 1 ~103 days 
Domestic Well N/A 
Warner  
Leyner Cottonwood #2 Ditch May 2 – September 18 ~139 days 

 

 

 

 

 

residence  ●  six outbuildings  ● large barn( formerly used for hay 
storage, milking and livestock shelter)   

Infrastructure 

 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Hartnagle fields 167, 173, 175 
Manter sandy loam 1-3% III 
Hartnagle fields 169, 176 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3% II 
Warner, Hartnagle fields 154, 159, 161, 163 
Ascalon sandy loam 0-1% I 

Packet Page 985



Hartnagle, Warner 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 Figure 16: Hartnagle, Warner Trails, Management Area 
Designations, and Weeds 

Figure 15: Hartnagle, Warner Natural Resources 

Packet Page 986



Hartnagle, Warner 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
20 
10 in production 

Micro-Dairy Pasture 80 
 
Provided demand, this property is recommended for a small diversified 
vegetable farm, or micro-dairy.  This property is only to be considered 
for a micro-dairy if Kolb, which is solely suitable for a micro-dairy, is 
leased.  This property is in the Lower Boulder Creek HCA.  Just as the 
existing livestock operation exists, a small diversified vegetable farm or 
micro-dairy could operate here without significantly affecting the 
ecological values associated with the property and surrounding HCA.   

This property was historically tilled farmland, and contains some of the 
soils most well suited to vegetable farming anywhere in the OSMP land 
system.   The long-term recommendation is to concentrate the more 
intensive agricultural activities associated with diversified vegetable 
farming in the area south of the railroad tracks and nearest to the 
infrastructure.  However, that area is currently occupied by prairie 
dogs, but designated a prairie dog removal area.   

Figure 17: Hartnagle, Warner Natural Resources 

Figure X: Hartnagle, Warner Recommendations 

Packet Page 987



  

Hartnagle, Warner 

Recommendation and Rationale Cont: 

The area would require an estimated 3-5 year recovery period after prairie dog relocation before it would be suitable for a 
vegetable farm or dairy pasture. Staff recommends establishing a diversified vegetable farm on 20 acres, north of the railroad 
tracks in the interim.  This farm area would be converted back to native grass/hay after the diversified vegetable farm was 
relocated south of the railroad tracks. 

Management Actions and Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up Hartnagle property $ 15,000 
Rehabilitate residence $250,000 - $450,0001 
Repair or reconstruct the outbuildings $80,000 
Repair or reconstruct an outbuilding to accommodate a cooler and wash area $30,000 
Construct one small (1/10 acre-foot) irrigation pond to vegetable cultivation areas to 
facilitate delivery of irrigation water to any planting beds.  

$10,000 

Remove prairie dogs $60,000 
Construct a prairie dog fence along western boundary2 $40,000  
Renovate the milking barn (The necessity of this management action is dependent on a 
micro-dairy operation being selected for the property) 

$40,000 

Domestic well testing and repairs $30,000 
Total Cost Estimate: $515,000 - $715,000 

1 An historic structures assessment was completed in 2014.  $50,000 was spent in 2015 on exterior stabilization and an interior retaining wall.     
2 Prairie dogs in the surrounding landscape may create ongoing management challenges.   

Packet Page 988



Figure 18: Axelson West Suitable Lands 

Axelson West 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

481 Total Acres, 68 Suitable Acres 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Left Hand Ditch via Starr lateral April 1 – October 31 ~210 days 
Domestic well N/A 

 
 

 
 

 

residence
Infrastructure 

1

1 There are two residences/building sites; Due to the small size and poor condition of the residence on the northern building site it, is not being considered as a 
viable residential option. However, the other buildings/infrastructure on the northern building site may be used in conjunction with the southern residence. 

  ●  small outbuilding/garage  ● grain bin  ● quonset hut 
(northern building site) ●  two-car garage (northern building site) ●  
two loafing sheds (northern building site) ●  corrals (northern 
building site)  ●  hay storage (northern building site) ● milking barn 
(northern building site)  

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Valmont clay loam 1-3% III 

Packet Page 989



Axelson West 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 Figure 20: Axelson West Trails, Management Area 
Designation, and Weeds 

Figure 19: Axelson West Natural Resources 

Packet Page 990



Axelson West 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

This property is not recommended for a diversified vegetable farm or micro-dairy. 
 
The Grassland Preserve designation and associated and likely ongoing prairie dog activity on most of the property is incompatible 
with vegetable farming.  Among other things, prairie dog activities result in a reduction of forage, making the majority of the 
property also incompatible with a micro-dairy.    
 
The western portion of the property is home to a pair of nesting Osprey.  The increased activities associated with a diversified 
vegetable farm or micro-dairy along the closure boundary area could disturb the nesting raptors.   
 
 

 

 

 

Packet Page 991



Johnson, Axelson East           

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

219 Total Acres, 145 Suitable Acres 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Johnson, Axelson East residence
Infrastructure 

1

Axelson West residence ●  small outbuilding/garage  ●  grain bin  ●  
quonset hut (northern building site) ●  two-car garage (northern 
building site) ●  two loafing sheds (northern building site) ●  corrals 
(northern building site)  ●  hay storage (northern building site) ● 
milking barn (northern building site) 

 ● milking barn (Johnson South) 

1 The residence is not being considered for housing because it supports a large colony of big brown bats (approximately 130), a species of special concern in 
Boulder County.  The bats have been roosting in the house for approximately 10 years.  The residence on the adjacent Axelson West  property is near enough 
to be considered “on-site”.  

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Left Hand Ditch via Starr lateral 
Domestic Well 

April 1 – October 31 ~210 days 
N/A 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Johnson, Axelson East 
Valmont clay loam 1-3% III 
Johnson, Field 66 
Valmont clay loam 1-3% III 
Nunn clay loam 1-3% II 

Figure 21: Johnson, Axelson East Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 992



Johnson, Axelson East 
 

Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 
 

Figure 22: Johnson, Axelson East Natural Resources Figure 23: Johnson, Axelson East Trails, Management Area 
Designations, and Weeds 

Packet Page 993



Johnson, Axelson East 

Recommendation and Rationale: 
Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
40 
20 in production 

Micro-Dairy Pasture 73 
 
Provided demand, this property is recommended for a diversified 
vegetable farm, or micro-dairy.  This property is only to be considered for a 
micro-dairy if Kolb, which is solely suitable for a micro-dairy operation is 
leased. 
 
Historic prairie dog activity throughout the Johnson property has resulted 
in the loss of top soil.  Fields 57, 58, 64, 63, 66, and 62 would require an 
estimated 3-5 year recovery period after prairie dog relocation before they 
would be suitable for a vegetable farm or pasture dairy.  While the current 
occupation of prairie dogs on this property presents a management 
challenge, the Transitional Area designation indicates the precedence of 
other resources and management goals.   
 
The majority of the property is infested with a large population of 
Mediterranean sage, limiting the forage available for a pasture dairy.  
Staff estimates that the vegetation conditions of this property may not 
support a pasture based dairy for an estimated 10 or more years. When  
the vegetation conditions meet OSMP standards the property may be 
 considered for a pasture based dairy.     
 
Under the current conditions, only 22 acres would be available for diversified vegetable farming.   

Figure 24: Johnson, Axelson East Recommendations 

Packet Page 994



Johnson, Axelson East 

Management Actions and Cost Estimate for Conversion: 
 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up properties $ 10,000 
Update outbuilding to accommodate a cooler and wash area (Axelson West or 
Johnson) 

$20,000 

Repair or reconstruct a livestock pole barn (Axelson West or Johnson ) $40,000 
Repair or reconstruct milking barn $20,000 
Construct a small (1/10 acre-foot) irrigation pond near the vegetable cropping areas 
to facilitate the delivery of irrigation water to any planting bed 

 $5,000 

Construct a fence to separate the fields for diversified vegetable farming from the rest 
of the property which may be grazed 

$10,000 

Construct a prairie dog fence to separate prairie dog colonies from the portion of 
property suitable for vegetable farming2  $30,000 

 
Passive relocation of prairie dogs on fields 57 and 58. (This is dependent on a lessee 
desiring to expand beyond the 22 acres on field 46.) Alternatively, expansion could 
occur only after the prairie dogs have left the fields  

$ 0 - 50,000 

                         Total Cost Estimate: $135,000 -  $185,000 
 

2 Prairie dogs in the surrounding landscape are likely to create an ongoing management challenge.  

Packet Page 995



Figure 25: Lewis, Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th  Suitable Lands 

Lewis, Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th  
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 
117 Total Acres, 99 Suitable Acres 

Lewis 
Water 

Sources Availability 
Enterprise Ditch 
Cottonwood #2 Ditch 

May 16 – August 4  ~80 days 
May 16 – September 12  ~119 days 

Stengel-King and Baseline & 75th 
McGinn Ditch April 29 – October 10 ~164 days 

 
 

 

 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Lewis, field 245 
Nunn Sandy clay loam 1-3%  II 

Lewis, fields 244, 251, 256 
Nunn Sandy clay loam 
Ascalon-Otero Complex 

1-3% 
3-5% 

III 
III 

Stengel- King, Baseline & 75th fields 267, 280, 283, 285 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3%   II 
Baseline & 75th field 265 
Ascalon sandy loam 
Ascalon-Otero Complex 

1-3% 
3-5%  

II  
III 

Infrastructure  residence  ●  three bay garage  ●  pole barn 
for covered hay storage ● four sheds  
 

Packet Page 996



Lewis, Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th  
 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 Figure 26: Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th Natural Resources Figure 27: Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th Trails, Management Area 
Designation, and Weeds 

Packet Page 997



Lewis, Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th  
 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
16 
8 in production 

 
Provided demand, this property is recommended for a small diversified 
vegetable farm.  This property is not recommended for a micro-dairy.   
 
This property supports large numbers of nesting bobolinks, therefore the 
majority of the property was identified to be managed as Class B 
Bobolink Management Area (through a parallel Ag Plan process).  In 
order to continue to provide habitat for nesting bobolinks the size of the 
area being recommended for diversified vegetable farming  was limited 
to the minimum size required, 16 acres total, 8 in production at a given 
time.   
 
The area recommended for diversified vegetable production is 
recommended to be managed as a Class B Bobolink Management Area 
prior to conversion.  Upon conversion of the 16 acres, additional fields 
on Lewis will be managed as Class B Bobolink Management Areas.   
 
This recommendation maintains and enhances a relatively large block of 
contiguous bobolink nesting habitat, while also taking advantage of the 
existing infrastructure and favorable agricultural characteristics to 
provide an opportunity for diversified vegetable production. 

This property was not recommended for a micro-dairy operation because the associated grazing is not compatible with the 
management actions associated with Class B Bobolink designation. 

Figure 28: Lewis, Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th Recommendations 

Packet Page 998



  Lewis, Stengel-King, Baseline & 75th  
 
Management Actions and Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up properties $ 15,000 
Perform a historic structures assessment on the house, barn, and outbuildings $15,000 
Rehabilitate residence $300,000 - $400,000 
Repair or reconstruct  barn and other outbuildings  $100,000 
Update outbuilding to accommodate a cooler and wash area $30,000 
Construct one small (1/10 acre-foot) irrigation pond near the vegetable cropping areas 
to facilitate the delivery of irrigation water to any planting beds.  $10,000 

Cultural resource survey for Stengel-King $0 - $3,000 
Upon conversion designate Lewis 245, 244, 251, and 256 as Class B Bobolink 
Management Areas 

$0 

Upon conversion perform site-specific mapping and evaluation of rare or sensitive plant 
communities, wetland, and riparian areas   

$0 

Total Cost Estimate: $470,000 - $573,000 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 999



Bell I, Bell II, Teller 
 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 
 401 Total Acres, 137 Suitable Acres 

 

 

 

 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Bell I and II  
Leyner Cottonwood Ditch May 2 – September 18  ~139 days 
Cottonwood # 2 Ditch May 6 – September 12  ~129 days 
Teller  
Leyner Cottonwood Ditch May 2 – September 18  ~139 days 
Marshallville Ditch May 4 – September 5  ~124 days 
Dry Creek Ditch May 21 – September1 ~103 days 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Bell I 
Manter sandy loam   1-3%, 3-9% III 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3% II 
Bell II 
Manter sandy loam   1-3%, 3-9% III 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3% II 
Ascalon sandy loam 3-5% III 
Teller 
Manter sandy loam   1-3%, 3-9% III 
Hargreave fine sandy loam 1-3% III 
Ascalon sandy loam 0-1% I 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3% II 
Ascalon sandy loam 3-5% III 

Figure 29: Bell I, Bell II, Teller Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 1000



Bell I, Bell II, Teller 

 

Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 

 

Figure 31: Bell I, Bell II, Teller Trails, Management Area 
Designations, and Weeds 

Figure 30: Bell I, Bell II, Teller Natural Resources 

Packet Page 1001



Bell I, Bell II, Teller 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
52 
26 in production 

 
Provided demand, this property is recommended for an 
expansion of a nearby diversified vegetable farm.  The 
recommended area avoids sensitive natural resources.  This 
property is not recommended for a micro-dairy operation due 
to the lack of infrastructure.   

Management Actions and  
Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up property $5,000 
Construct a small (1/10 acre-foot) 
irrigation pond to facilitate the 
delivery of irrigation water to any 
planting beds 

$5,000 

Construct a fence to separate the 
cropping area of a diversified 
vegetable farm from the rest of 
the property which will continue to 
be hayed/ grazed 

$15,000 

                 Total Cost Estimate: $25,000 

      

Figure 32: Bell I, Bell II, Teller Recommendations 

Packet Page 1002



Biddle 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

52 Total Acres, 50 Suitable Acres 

 

 

 

 
 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Green Ditch May 27 – September20  ~116 days 
Butte Irrigation and Milling  May 19 – August 17 ~ 90 days 
 Jones and Donnelly Ditch May 6 – October 28   ~175 days 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Manter sandy loam 0-1% III 
Loveland soils 0-1% III 

Figure 33: Biddle Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 1003



Biddle 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

Figure 35: St. Biddle Trails, Management Area Designations, and 
Weeds 

Figure 34: St. Biddle Natural Resources 

Packet Page 1004



Biddle 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

This property is not recommended for an expansion of a nearby diversified vegetable farm, or for a micro-dairy operation.   

This property (along with the neighboring Manchester and Fell properties) supports significant wetlands on the northern portion 
of the property.  The current flood irrigation practices necessary to support the current hay operations also help support these 
wetlands.  Transferring to more efficient irrigation practices associated with diversified vegetable production could negatively 
affect the wetlands.   

The current hay/graze operations will continue, as this property is designated as an Agricultural area, and the activities enhance 
the wetlands and associated natural resource values.   

Packet Page 1005



Fell 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

45 Total Acres, 29 Suitable Acres 

 

 

 

 
 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Green Ditch May 27 – September20 ~117 days 
Butte Irrigation and Milling  May 19 – August 17 ~90 days 
 Jones and Donnelly Ditch May 6 – October 28 ~175 days 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Manter sandy loam 0-1% III 
Manter sandy loam 1-3% III 
Loveland soils 0-1% III 

Figure 36: Fell Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 1006



Fell 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

Figure 38: Fell Trails, Management Area Designations, and Weeds Figure 37: Fell Natural Resources 

Packet Page 1007



Fell 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

This property is not recommended for an expansion of a nearby diversified vegetable farm, or for a micro-dairy operation.   

This property (along with the neighboring Manchester and Biddle properties) supports significant wetlands on the northern 
portion of the property.  The current flood irrigation practices necessary to support the current hay operations also help support 
these wetlands.  Transferring to more efficient irrigation practices associated with diversified vegetable production could 
negatively affect the wetlands.   

In addition, this property is designated as a HCA, where one of the goals is to maintain or enhance ecological systems.  The 
current hay/graze operations will continue as the associated irrigation activities enhance the wetlands and natural resource 
values.   

 

Packet Page 1008



Isenhart - Jones 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

57 Total Acres, 31 Suitable Acres 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
Cottonwood #2 Ditch May16 –September 12 ~119 days 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3% II 
Ascalon-Otero complex 3-5% III 
Loveland soils 0-1% III 

Figure 39: Isenhart - Jones Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 1009



Isenhart - Jones 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

Figure 41: Isenhart - Jones Trails, Management Area Designations, 
and Weeds 

Figure 40: Isenhart - Jones Natural Resources 

Packet Page 1010



Isenhart - Jones 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
28 
14 in production 

Provided demand, this property is recommended for an 
expansion of a nearby diversified vegetable farm.  The 
recommended area avoids sensitive natural resources and is in 
an Agricultural Area. This Property is not recommended for a 
micro-dairy operation.   

The area proposed for possible diversified vegetable farming was 
concentrated in the western portion of the property to provide a 
buffer to the wetlands and rare plant communities found on the 
eastern portion of the property.   

Management Actions and Cost Estimate for 
Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up property $ 5,000 
Construct a small (1/10 acre-foot) 
irrigation pond to facilitate the delivery of 
irrigation water to any planting beds 

 $5,000 
 

Construct a fence to separate the 
cropping area of a diversified vegetable 
farming operation from the rest of the 
property which may be hayed/ grazed 

$15,000 

     Total Cost Estimate: $25,000 

Figure 42: Isenhart - Jones Recommendations 

Packet Page 1011



 

King Hodgson 
 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 
96 Total Acres, 88 Suitable Acres 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Lewis 
Water 

Sources Availability 
Butte Irrigation and Milling ditch 
Cottonwood #2 Ditch 
 

May 6 – August 17  ~103 days 
May 19 – September 12  ~116 
days 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Fields 185, 188, 192, 197, 432 
Ascalon sandy loam 1-3%  II 

Field 198 
Ascalon sandy loam 
Ascalon-Otero Complex 

1-3% 
3-5% 

II 
III 

Figure 43: King Hodgson Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 1012



King Hodgson  
 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

 Figure 45: King Hodgson Trails, Management Area Designation, and 
Weeds 

Figure 44: King Hodgson Natural Resources 

Packet Page 1013



King Hodgson  
 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
27 
14 in production 

Provided demand, this property is recommended for an expansion of a 
nearby diversified vegetable farm.  Diversified vegetable farming can 
occur in the recommended area and avoid sensitive resources.  This 
property is not recommended for a micro-dairy operation due to a lack 
of infrastructure.  The identified fields were selected in order to 
maintain a contiguous block of grass/hay on the remainder of the 
property.   
 

Management Actions and  
Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost 
Estimate 

Clean up property $ 5,000 
Construct a small (1/10 acre-foot) irrigation pond 
to facilitate the delivery of irrigation water to any 
planting beds 

 $5,000 
 

Construct a fence to separate the cropping area of 
a diversified vegetable farm from the rest of the 
property which may be hayed/ grazed 

$15,000 

Cultural Resource Survey  $0 -$15,000 
Perform site-specific mapping and evaluation of 
rare or sensitive plant, communities, wetlands, 
and riparian areas 

$0 

     Total Cost Estimate: $25,000 - $40,000 

Figure 46: King Hodgson Recommendations 

Packet Page 1014



St. Walburga Abbey 

 
Essential Agricultural Characteristics Summary: 

69 Total Acres, 58 Suitable Acres 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Source 
Water 

Availability 
McGinn Ditch April 29 – October 10 ~164 days 

Type 
Soils 

Slope Capability Class 
Field 302 
Nunn sandy clay loam 0-1% I 
Field 303 
Nunn sandy clay loam 0-1% I 
Valmont clay loam 1-3% III 
Field 308 
Valmont clay loam 1-3% III 

Figure 47: St. Walburga Abbey Suitable Lands 

Packet Page 1015



St. Walburga Abbey 

 
Compatibility with Natural Resources and Management Goals: 

Figure 49: St. Walburga Abbey Trails, Management Area 
Designations, and Weeds 

Figure 48: St. Walburga Abbey Natural Resources 

Packet Page 1016



St. Walburga Abbey 

 
Recommendation and Rationale: 

Maximum Extent (Acres) 

Diversified Vegetable Farm 
27 
14 in production 

 
Provided demand, this property is recommended for an expansion 
of a nearby diversified vegetable farm.  The recommended area 
avoids sensitive natural resources. This property is not 
recommended for a micro-dairy operation due to the lack of 
infrastructure.     

This property contains some of the most suitable soils and water in 
the OSMP system for diversified vegetable farming.  

In order to offset the loss of bobolink habitat, the remaining 
portion of the property is recommended to be enhanced for 
bobolink habitat through more consistent application of irrigated 
waters.   

Figure 50: St. Walburga Abbey Recommendations 

Packet Page 1017



St. Walburga Abbey 

Management Actions and Cost Estimate for Conversion: 

Management Action Cost Estimate 
Clean up property $ 5,000 
Construct a small (1/10 acre-foot) irrigation pond to facilitate the delivery of irrigation 
water to any planting beds 

 $5,000 
 

Construct a fence to separate the cropping area of a diversified vegetable farming 
operation from the rest of the property which may be hayed/ grazed 

$15,000 

Enhance the bobolink habitat on fields 303 and 308 through consistent irrigation N/A 
     Total Cost Estimate: $25,000 

Packet Page 1018



Appendix A: Soil Capability Classes 
 

Capability Class I: soils have slight limitations that restrict their 
use. 
NnA: Nunn Sand clay loam, 0-1 percent slopes  
AcA: Ascalon sandy loam, 0-1 percent slopes 
 
Capability Class II: soils have moderate limitations that reduce the 
choice of plants or require 
moderate conservation practices. 
NuA: Nunn clay loam, 0-1 percent slopes (shallow, droughty, or 
stony7

NnB: Nunn sandy clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
) 

NuB: Nunn clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (shallow, droughty, or 
stony) 
WIA: Weld loam, 0-1 percent slopes (shallow, droughty, or stony) 
WeB: Weld fine sandy loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
AcB: Ascalon sandy loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
AoB: Ascalon-Otero complex, 0-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
WIB: Weld loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
CsB: Colby silty clay loam, 0-3 percent slopes (excess water) 
Mm: McClave clay loam, 0-1 percent slopes (excess water) 
NuC: Nunn clay loam, 3-5 percent slopes (erosion) 
CaA: Calkins sandy loam, 0-1 percent slopes (excess water) 
CaB: Calkins sandy loam, 1-3 percent slopes (excess water) 
CoB:  Colby silty clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
Nv: Nunn-Kim complex, 0-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
WoB: Weld-Colby complex, 0-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
Me: Manvel loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 

7 Limitations listed in parenthesis  

HeB: Heldt Clay, 0-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
 
Capability Class III: soils have severe limitations that reduce the 
choice of plants or require 
special conservation practices or both. 
MdA: Manter sandy loam, 0-1 percent slopes (erosion) 
MdB: Mater sandy loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
WdB: Weld loamy sand, 1-4 percent slopes (erosion) 
AcC: Ascalon sandy loam, 3-5 percent slopes (erosion) 
AoC: Ascalon-Otero complex, 3-5 percent slopes (erosion) 
VaB: Valmont clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
HaB: Hargreave fine sandy loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
Lv: Loveland soils, 01- percent slopes (excess water) 
MdD: Manter sandy loam, 3-9 percent slopes (erosion) 
VaC: Valmont lcay loam, 3-5 percent slopes (erosion) 
 
Capability Class IV:  soils have very severe limitations that restrict 
the choice of plants or require very careful management or both. 
AcD: Ascalon sandy loam, 5-9 percent slopes (erosion) 
AoD: Ascalon-Otero complex, 5-9 percent slopes (erosion) 
WoC: Weld-Colby complex, 3-5 percent slopes (erosion) 
GaB: Gaynor silty clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (shallow, droughty, 
or stony) 
KuD: Kutch clay loam, 3-9 percent slopes (erosion) 
RnB: Renohill silty clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (shallow, droughty, 
or stony) 
RnD: Renohill silty clay loam, 3-9 percent slopes (erosion) 
GaD: Gaynor silty clay loam, 1-3 percent slopes (erosion) 
 

Packet Page 1019



Capability Class V: soils have little or no hazard of erosion but have 
other limitations, impractical to remove, that limit their use mainly 
to pasture, range, forestland, or wildlife food and cover. 
 VcC: Valmont cobbly clay loam, 1-5 percent slopes (shallow, 
droughty, or stony) 
 
Capability Class VI: soils have severe limitations that make them 
generally unsuited to cultivation and that limit their use mainly to 
pasture, range, forestland, or wildlife food and cover. 
ReD: Renohill loam, 3-9 percent slopes (erosion)  
 
Class VII: soils have very severe limitations that make them 
unsuited to cultivation and that restrict their use mainly to grazing, 
forestland, or wildlife. 
Te: Terrace Escarpments, (shallow, steep, stony, erosion) 
 
Class VIII: soils and miscellaneous areas have limitations that 
preclude their use for commercial plant production and limit their 
use to recreation, wildlife, or water supply or for esthetic purposes. 

Packet Page 1020



Appendix B: Visitor Master Plan Management Area Goals 

Agricultural Area Goals: 
• Maintain the efficiency of agricultural production and operation. 
• Manage agricultural production and operation to ensure safety for operators and visitors in the vicinity. 
• Provide, where appropriate, public access and passive recreational opportunities that have minimal impacts on agricultural production 

and operation or other resources. 
• Manage visitor access in areas of intensive agricultural production or operation to ensure visitor safety. 
• Eliminate undesignated trails when they are redundant or damaging to resources.   

Passive Recreation Area Goals: 
• Provide a high level of public access to destinations and connection through designated trails.  
• Maintain or improve passive recreational and educational opportunities, while protecting and preserving natural lands and resources.   
• Accommodate high levels of visitor use with appropriate management, trails and trailheads, and services. 
• Reduce conflicts among visitor activities. 
• Minimize the number of undesignated or “social trails,” eliminate undesignated trails when they are duplicative or damaging to 

resources.   

Natural Areas Goals: 
• Accommodate low-impact visitor activities where adequate trails exist or can be built, and resource impacts can be minimized. 
• Provide opportunities for passive recreational and educational activities that require topographic relief or a natural setting. 
• Protect the quality of natural and agricultural resources (especially where high value resources exist). 
• Eliminate undesignated trails when they are redundant or damaging to resources. 

Habitat Conservation Areas (HCA) Goals: 
• Maintain, enhance, and/or restore naturally functioning ecological systems. 
• Maintain, enhance, and restore habitat for species of concern identified in the Boulder County and the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 

Plans. 

Packet Page 1021



• Provide public access and passive recreational opportunities that foster appreciation and understanding of ecological systems and have 
minimal impacts on native plant communities and wildlife habitats or other resources.   

• Eliminate all undesignated trails, unless they are made part of the designated trails system or provide specialized access to appropriate 
low-use destinations. 

• Where sustainable infrastructure exists, continue to allow public access to appropriate destinations.   

Packet Page 1022



Appendix C: Prairie Dog Colony Management Area Designations 

Grassland Preserves 
Grassland Preserves are areas where prairie dogs and their associated species are part of large and ecologically diverse grassland habitat blocks.  
These areas are considered the best opportunity to conserve prairie dogs and their associated species. In most cases, prairie dogs will be allowed 
to persist without removal in Grassland Preserves.  However, removal will be allowed for the purposes of maintaining existing irrigation facilities 
such as headgates, ditches, lateral ditches, reservoirs and irrigated fields.  In addition, to ensure protection of habitat within Grassland 
Preserves, the need for limited removal from a Grassland Preserve will be assessed if prairie dogs occupy more than 26% of the Grassland 
Preserve (i.e. viability drops below “Good”) and indicators of vegetation composition fall below thresholds identified in the Grassland Plan.  
Inactive, previously occupied colonies within Grassland Preserves could serve as relocation receiving sites (where there is an existing burrow 
infrastructure) and if the area meets relocation criteria (identified in the Grassland Plan).  However, prairie dogs will not be relocated into 
irrigated fields nested within Grassland Preserves. Following a die-off or other disappearance of prairie dogs from an area, they could be 
excluded to allow for habitat restoration or to protect existing habitat restoration projects.   

Multiple Objective Areas  
In Multiple Objective Areas, preservation of prairie dogs and their associated community is one of several management objectives. Prairie dogs 
will be allowed to persist without removal except for the purpose of maintaining existing irrigation facilities such as headgates, ditches, lateral 
ditches, reservoirs or irrigated fields. Multiple Objective Areas will not be used as receiving sites for relocated prairie dogs. Exclusion of prairie 
dogs attempting to re-colonize a Multiple Objective Area could occur to allow habitat recovery.    

Prairie Dog Conservation Areas  
Prairie Dog Conservation Areas are areas where the conservation of the prairie dog is the primary management objective and are managed 
opportunistically for associated species. These areas would serve as receiving sites for relocation with the requirements described in the 
Grassland Plan.  No removal of prairie dogs would occur in Prairie Dog Conservation Areas except for the purpose of maintaining an existing 
irrigation facility such as a headgate, ditch, lateral ditch, reservoir or irrigated field.  Prairie dogs will not be relocated into irrigated agricultural 
fields within Prairie Dog Conservation Areas. 

Transition Areas   
Transition Areas are grassland areas where the preservation of resources other than the prairie dog and associated community takes 
precedence.  Prairie dogs may inhabit transition areas, but will be relocated away from the property when feasible (i.e. relocation receiving site 
is available).  Following relocation, die-off or other natural events such as dispersal that leads to a reduction of the population and result in 

Packet Page 1023



uninhabited areas, re-colonization could be prevented or discouraged using barriers, re-seeding, grading, burrow destruction, passive relocation 
or other methods available to the department. After efforts are made to trap and relocate all remaining prairie dogs, removal through lethal 
control will be allowed in accordance with applicable regulations and policies, and if numbers do not exceed 20 individuals.  Removal would be 
allowed at any time for maintenance of existing irrigation facilities such as a headgate, ditch, lateral ditch, reservoir or irrigated field.  Continued 
irrigation will also be allowed in irrigated fields regardless of prairie dog occupancy.   

Removal Areas    
In removal areas, prairie dogs are incompatible with OSMP management objectives.  The designation of a property as a Removal Area provides 
the option to remove prairie dogs from the property in accordance with applicable regulations and policies.  Following removal, efforts would 
occur to prevent re-colonization including restoration or irrigation of the property, destruction of burrow system, exclusion structures, etc.  
Continued irrigation will be allowed in irrigated fields regardless of prairie dog occupancy. 

Packet Page 1024



Bobolink Management Areas 
 

Existing Management Direction 
OSMP’s goal of integrating agricultural management practices that support 
nesting habitat for bobolinks was established in the Grassland Ecosystem 
Management Plan (Grassland Plan).  To this end, a select number of hayfields 
were to be identified that management was to be adjusted on, and mowing 
delayed until after bobolink fledging, July 15 unless otherwise determined by 
monitoring.  However at the time the Grassland Plan was in development, 
complicated land use prevented the designation of enough hayfields to meet the 
standard identified in the Grassland Plan.  The Agricultural Plan will pick up where 
the Grassland Plan left off, and identify a sufficient number of hayfields to be 
managed for bobolink nesting habitat to meet the standard identified in the 
Grassland Plan. 
 

Class A Bobolink Management Areas 
Class A Bobolink Management Areas are hayfields that are refrained from mowing 
every year until after bobolink fledging, July 15 unless otherwise determined by 
monitoring.  Through the Grassland Plan, four top-tier hayfields were designated 
as Class A Bobolink Management Areas.  No changes to the Class A Management 
Areas are proposed.   

Class A Bobolink Management Areas 
Property Field Acres Bobolink Habitat Rating 

Church 355 96 Low1 
Burke II 263 54 High 
Van Vleet  315 92 Medium 
Van Vleet  331 25 Very High 

1 Although Church 355 has a low density of bobolinks, it consistently supports one of the 
   greatest numbers of individuals.   

Bobolink Nesting Habitat 

Bobolinks are ground-nesting songbirds that 
originally nested in tallgrass or mixedgrass 
prairie, but because of land conversion, have 
now increased their use of irrigated hayfields.  
Unfortunately, due to their affinity to breed 
late in the summer, haying/mowing often 
occurs before the young birds have left the 
nest.  Biologists have documented a 90-100% 
failure rate of bobolink nests because of 
hayfield mowing.  The consensus is that 
postponing mowing until July 15 allows for the 
majority of fledglings to be able to sustain 
flight and hence avoid mowing impacts.  This 
use of hayfields as nesting habitat creates a 
potential management conflict as most 
operators would like to maximize yields, which 
translates to several harvests (i.e. mowings) 
each season.   

Bobolinks are protected under the Migratory 
Bird Treaty Act and are considered “vulnerable 
to extirpation: (‘S3B”) by the Colorado Natural 
Heritage Program and “rare breeding species” 
by the Boulder County Comprehensive Plan. 

Packet Page 1025



Class B Bobolink Management Areas 
 
Class B Bobolink Management Areas are hayfields that are 
not mowed until after bobolink fledging, one year out of 
three.  Fourteen hayfields were identified as candidates for 
Class B Bobolink Management Areas in the Grassland Plan; 
five were ultimately designated. The other nine remained as 
candidates due to the aforementioned complicated land use 
and prioritization of agricultural use. The standard set in the 
Grassland Plan was to manage 75% of the 14 hayfields (10.5 
fields) as Class B Bobolink Management Areas in a given year.  
 
Staff chose to re-evaluate the Class B Management Areas 
(designated areas and candidates) identified in the Grassland 
Plan to take advantage of new information, informing staff of 
other OSMP hayfields with higher abundance and densities of 
singing male bobolinks, and reduce the complexities 
associated with tracking different fields each year.  Using the 
new data, OSMP selected 18 fields, totaling 301 acres2 to be 
designated as Class B Bobolink Management Areas (figure 1).  
The recommendations increase the land being managed as 
Class B Bobolink Management Areas from 172 to 301 acres. 
The recommendations aimed to cluster the fields so as to 
provide larger and contiguous habitat blocks.   
 
 

2 Staff determined that because the size of the fields varies significantly, acres would be a better measure.  Staff determined a target range of acres by summing 
the largest 10.5 fields and smallest 10.5 fields of the Grassland Plan Candidate B fields; the target range is 223-316 acres.   

Class B Bobolink Management Areas 
Property Field Acres Bobolink Habitat Rating 

Lewis  245* 4 Absent 
Lewis  244* 13 Very High 
Lewis  251* 10 High 
Lewis  256 13 Very High 
Baseline & 75th  265* 10 Very High 
Baseline & 75th  267* 19 High 
Baseline & 75th 280 10 Very High 
Baseline & 75th 283 9 High 
Baseline & 75th 285 13 High 
Deluca 14 27 High 
Deluca 13 32 Very High 
Deluca 19 18 Very High 
Hester 18 25 Medium 
Campbell 459 29 High 
Swartz 254 8 Very High 
Swartz 250 15 High 
Swartz 247 17 High 
Spicer  260 29 Low 
Standard: 100% of Class B Bobolink Management areas mowed 
one year out of three after July 15 annually. 

 
* The entirety of Baseline & 75th 265 and 267 are to be managed as Class B until 
conversion of the northern 12 acres.  After conversion, Lewis 251, 244, and 245 
are to be added to the Class B management area. 

Packet Page 1026



Bobolink Management Areas  
At a Glance:  (summary statistics) 
• Bobolinks have been observed on approximately 74% 

(n=2372 acres) of OSMP  monitored sites from 2010-20143  
Lands Designated as Class A or B 

Density 
Total 
Acres 

Acres 
Designated 
Class A or B 

% Designated 
Class A or B 

Very 
High 

214 183 85% 

High 201 124 62% 
Medium 400 117 30% 
Low 1558 125 8% 
 

• Implementation of the diversified vegetable farming 
recommendations will result in 142 acres of hayfields with a 
presence of bobolinks being converted to diversified 
vegetable farming.   

Lands Recommended for  
Diversified Vegetable Farming 

Density Total Acres 
% of land in 
density class 

Very High 3 (Baseline & 75th) 1% 
High 9 (Baseline & 75th) 4% 
Medium 27 (St. Wallburga) 7% 
Low 103 7% 

 

3 Sites monitored for bobolinks include hayfields and semi-native 
grasslands.  

Figure 1: Class A and B Bobolink Management Areas & Bobolink Density 
Packet Page 1027



Alternative Agriculture Policy 
 
Purpose and Need 
An Alternative Agriculture Policy will provide direction on the types of agriculturally related activities/enterprises permitted on city open 
space.   Examples of alternative agriculture are agritainment (corn mazes, petting zoos, etc.), farm stands, community gardens and 
farm dinners or events.  A more complete list along with more detailed descriptions is provided below in the “Definitions” section.   
 
Alternative agriculture can provide opportunities for agricultural producers to diversify their income and market their products.  
Providing farmers and/or ranchers with these opportunities may increase the success of local food producers and contribute to an 
increase in local food and/or vegetable production, consistent with Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies.  These activities also 
provide opportunities for members of the public to connect with the land and agricultural heritage of the Boulder Valley.  These types of 
agriculturally related enterprises have also been increasing in popularity nationwide thus increasing the relevance of these activities to 
OSMP lands and the departmental need to assess their suitability.  However, the umbrella term of alternative agriculture covers a wide 
range of activities/enterprises with substantial differences among them.  This analysis will evaluate each type of alternative agriculture 
activity/enterprise to determine its suitability on OSMP lands.   
 

Definitions  
Agritainment (agritourism, agrotourism) 
Agritainment refers to a variety of commercial enterprises that provide an opportunity for entertainment or recreation in an 
agricultural setting.  The most common agritainment activities include pumpkin patches, corn mazes, u-pick enterprises, petting zoos 
and hay rides.  These activities are often provided together, or in groups, as the combination of activities/entertainment options tends 
to attract more customers. 
 

Farm Event 
Farm events are defined by the Boulder County Land Use (BCLU) Code as a group between 26 and 99 people participating in an event 
where the farm is used as a venue.  This includes farm to table dinners, weddings, wedding receptions, and any other gathering where 
eating and socializing occur and where the majority of the food served at the event is made with ingredients grown or raised locally 
often by the host farmer(s).   

Packet Page 1028



 
Farm Stand/Store 
Farm stands are places where agricultural and horticultural products are sold.   Farm stands are defined by the BCLU Code as operating 
42 days or less annually.  Farm stores are defined as operating more than 42 days annually.   The BCLU Code requires that agricultural 
and horticultural products must comprise at least 90% of annual sales.   
 

Demonstration Farm 
A demonstration farm is a farm used primarily to demonstrate, teach, or evaluate various farming, ranching and agricultural 
techniques.  Many demonstration farms not only have crops, but may also have various types of livestock.  Participants often sign up for 
a series of classes or workshops.  These farms may also offer programs to the general public to increase public awareness of food 
production and preparation practices.   Demonstration farms are typically owned and operated by educational institutions or public 
agencies and the educational benefits are of greater focus than profits from agricultural production.   

 

A farm camp (overnight camps not included) is similar to a demonstration farm however it is generally geared toward non-industry 
related participants such as youth or the general public.  While providing an educational experience, the camps can also be for-profit 
ventures.  Farm camps generally do not evaluate various techniques but instead focus on teaching or sharing basic farming practices. 

 

Food Forest (aka forest gardens, edible forest gardening) 
Food forests are similar to orchards, but modified in accordance with permaculture principles.  Permaculture is a systems approach 
where agricultural systems are modeled from natural ecosystems.   Food forests are primarily composed of perennial food-producing 
plants, including fruit and nut trees, vines and shrubs and perennial and annual vegetables, and are arranged in a way that functionally 
and structurally mimics woodland ecosystems.  The diversity has been shown to improve resiliency and reduce maintenance when 
compared to traditional orchards. Food forests are open to the public and are seen as a way to transform unused lots or more typical 
ornamental-focused parks into food-producing areas that promote land stewardship and create ties between community members and 
food production.    

Community Gardens 
Community Gardens are composed of land divided into individual or shared plots for people to grow vegetables, fruits, nuts, grains and 
ornamental plants.  Community Gardens are seen as a way to transform unused lots or more typical ornamental-focused parks into 
food-producing areas that promote land stewardship and create ties between community members and food production.  Community 
gardens allow community members to play a direct role in growing food locally.  Land for these gardens may be public or private and is 
often located near schools, hospitals, neighborhoods, or parks.  

Packet Page 1029



Policy Background 
 
City Charter 
Section 176 of the City Charter lists the purposes of open space which includes, “Preservation of agricultural uses and land suitable for 
agricultural production.”   For the past 40 years, OSMP policy has been to limit the activities allowed under an agricultural lease to 
agricultural production and those activities necessary to support the operation.   

The City Charter also lists “Preservation of land for passive recreational use, such as hiking, photography or nature studies, and if 
specifically designated bicycling, horseback riding, or fishing” as a purpose of open space lands.   Agritainment, or its most common 
activities, were not listed among the passive recreational activities.   

Visitor Master Plan 
In 2005 City Council approved the OSMP Visitor Master Plan (VMP).  The VMP introduced a management zoning system for all OSMP 
lands.  Among the four zoning designations was the Agricultural Area designation.  The goals for lands designated as Agricultural Areas 
are: 

• Maintain the efficiency of agricultural production and operation. 
• Manage agricultural production and operation to ensure safety for operators and visitors in the vicinity. 
• Provide, where appropriate, public access and passive recreational opportunities that have minimal impacts on agricultural 

production and operation or other resources. 
• Manage visitor access in areas of intensive agricultural production or operation to ensure visitor safety. 
• Eliminate undesignated trails when they are redundant or damaging to resources.   

 
Passive recreation and the necessary infrastructure, i.e. trails, are permitted in all OSMP Management Area designations, including 
Agricultural Areas.   

Assessment Methodology 
In order to evaluate the various alternative agricultural activities and determine their suitability on OSMP lands staff applied a slightly 
modified version of the Passive Recreation Activity Assessment (Activity Assessment), as all of the activities with the exception of the 
farm stand/store are activities with a recreational/entertainment component.  The criteria identified in the Activity Assessment have 
been used to evaluate potential activities since the adoption of the Visitor Master Plan in 2005, providing staff and the community with 
a consistent method of evaluation and starting point for the discussion on whether and how new activities should be considered passive 
recreation.  The alternative agricultural activities were assessed with criteria in four categories: 

Packet Page 1030



Category Criterion 

Relationship to setting 
 

Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP 
lands 
Ability to increase people’s appreciation of agriculture 
or understanding of Open Space purposes. 

Compatibility with resource protection 
Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural 
resources 

Compatibility with existing facilities and 
services 

Compatibility with a low level of existing facilities and 
services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, 
enforcement, monitoring, etc.) 
Compatibility with providing a safe recreational 
experience 

Compatibility with other activities 
Compatibility with other recreational activities and 
other visitor’s experiences 

 
For each criterion, the activity was identified as having either “Considerations” or “No Consideration.”  For criteria with considerations, 
staff identified potential mitigating strategies to determine if the activity could be made more compatible.   

 A distinction was made between activities that OSMP may provide and those that an agricultural producer or lessee may provide.  
Agritainment, farm events, farm stands/stores, and farm camps are activities that an agricultural producer or potential lessee may be 
interested in providing, as they could increase the profitability of their agricultural operation.  When evaluating the activities that an 
agricultural lessee could provide, staff determined that in order to remain consistent with the charter purposes, agricultural production 
would need to remain the primary use of the property and these other activities would need to be accessory uses.  Staff interprets the 
City Charter’s reference to “agricultural uses” as agricultural production and those activities directly supporting an agricultural 
operation.  Staff believes maintaining agricultural production as the primary use on agricultural lands is aligned with the intent of the 
Charter, and that if other more recreation-oriented activities became the dominant use of agricultural land it would not be consistent 
with the intent of the charter.  Therefore the activity assessments for agritainment, farm events, farm stores and farm camps are 
limited to evaluating those uses as accessory, occurring only on farms where agricultural production is the primary purpose.      

Packet Page 1031



Agritainment 

Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP lands 
Considerations: 

• Agritainment depends upon an agricultural setting. 
• OSMP lands are not the only agricultural lands in Boulder County.    
• There are currently opportunities in Boulder County to participate in agritainment activities on private agricultural property.   

Ability to increase peoples’ appreciation of agriculture or understanding of Open Space purposes 
Considerations: 

• Agritainment may increase visits to open space; these visits may lead to an increased awareness of agricultural open space 
lands.  However, these activities are generally not designed to be educational, they may or may not aid in a visitor’s 
understanding of agricultural production or the agricultural importance of open space lands.   The educational benefit may 
be limited to answering basic questions a small child may have about farming.    

• U-pick operations may be different in nature from the other activities as visitors engage in an aspect, harvesting, of 
agricultural production which could foster an appreciation or understanding of the growing and harvesting of 
food/commodities and the types of food grown locally. 

Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural and other resources  
Considerations: 

• With the exception of u-pick operations, agritainment is not directly related to an aspect of agricultural production - the 
growing, harvesting, or selling of agricultural products; it is not an extension of an activity directly related to agricultural 
production.    

• Agritainment would require land, which could not simultaneously be used for agricultural production (e.g. corn or hay 
maze).   

o U-pick operations would not take land out of agricultural production; on the contrary it is reliant upon lands 
remaining in agricultural production.   

• Depending on the activities offered and number of customers, agritainment could interfere with the efficiency of farming 
operations.   

Mitigation Tools: 
• Agritainment could be allowed only in areas unsuitable for agricultural production, in pasture areas, and/or in farmstead 

areas.  However, limiting agritainment to farmstead areas might create more interference with the efficiency of farming 
operations. 

Packet Page 1032



Agritainment (cont.) 

Compatibility with a low level of existing facilities and services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, monitoring, 
etc.) 
Considerations: 

• Agricultural operations require a higher level of facilities/infrastructure than passive recreational activities.   Agritainment 
does not require a higher level of facilities than agricultural operations, but requires a higher level of facilities than other 
passive recreational activities permitted on OSMP lands.    

• Agritainment requires a parking area. 
• Unlike the other types of recreational activities on OSMP lands which are free, agricultural operators would likely charge a 

fee.  While commercial operators often charge a fee, participants and other OSMP visitors also have an opportunity to 
engage in the activity for free on OSMP lands without the services provided by the commercial outfitter.   

o While u-pick operations would charge a fee, it would be in exchange for goods/produce.   
Mitigation Tools: 

• Prohibit lessees from charging admission fees.  However, diversifying income is the main incentive/purpose for the lessee. 
Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 
Considerations: 

• If the activities are allowed in farmstead areas participants would be in an area with farmers operating equipment some of 
which is motorized and/or mechanical.  The concentration of these two uses in a single area may not be safe for 
participants. 

Mitigation Tools: 
• Limit the hours of operation to times when activities related to agricultural production are not occurring. (e.g. weekends or 

evenings) 
Compatibility with other activities/other visitor’s experiences 
Considerations: 

• While OSMP farms are open to the public they are not currently popular destinations for OSMP visitors.  The lack of visitor 
activity leads to the conclusion that there would not be a high level of visitor conflicts with participants in other activities.  
However, the concentrated nature of these activities would make it difficult for visitors to enjoy/engage in other activities.  

o Visitors could still walk through u-pick agricultural operation as operations are not closed to the public, they would 
only be unable to take food/goods which is consistent with current regulations.    

 

Packet Page 1033



Agritainment Recommendation and Rationale 

U-pick operations are more compatible with agricultural production as this activity relies on land remaining in agricultural production.  
U-pick operations also do not require specialized infrastructure, and while they charge a fee it is in exchange for agricultural products.   
Any operations would be required to comply with the applicable sections of the Boulder County Land Use code which provides 
guidelines for parking requirements.  All operations would also require the approval of OSMP staff.   
 
Due to compatibility issues with agricultural production, i.e. land being removed from agricultural production and interference with the 
efficiency of farming operations and the high level of visitor facilities and services required, staff recommends that of the activities in 
the category Agritainment, only u-pick operations be allowed on OSMP lands, and only as an accessory use.   

 
 

Packet Page 1034



Farm Events 

Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP lands 
Considerations: 

• Farm events are by definition dependent upon occurring on a farm.     
• Most agricultural producers/lessees wanting to host an event do not own an alternative venue.  However, some OSMP 

lessees operate farms on other lands they own, which could serve as alternative locales to OSMP lands.    
• There are currently opportunities in Boulder County to participate in farm events on privately owned farms.   

Ability to increase peoples’ appreciation of agriculture or understanding of Open Space purposes 
Considerations: 

• Farm events may increase visits to open space.  Depending on the type of event, they may or may not aid in a visitor’s 
understanding of agricultural production or the agricultural importance of open space lands.   

o Events such as celebrations, corporate dinners and weddings may not offer a suitable platform for the farmers to 
market their products and/or CSA membership, nor for participants to engage with the farmer.   Typically at 
celebrations/corporate dinners the main focus of the event is not the food/farm itself.   

o Events such as farm-to-table dinners are more likely to provide a better platform for farmers to share with 
participants information about the farm’s agricultural operation and products, market their CSA, and more directly 
engage with participants.  At farm dinners the main focus of the event is the food/farm itself.   

Mitigating Tools: 
• Create a distinction between the various types of farm events, farm-to-table dinners – hosted by the farmer, versus other 

events where the farm is mostly used as venue. 
Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural and other resources 
Considerations: 

• Farm events are not directly related to an aspect of agricultural production – the growing, harvesting, or selling of 
agricultural products; they are not an extension of an activity directly related to agricultural production.   

• Farm-to-table dinners, hosted by the farmer are directly related to the selling of agricultural production; they are an 
extension of an activity directly related to agricultural production.  

• Farm events depending on the size and frequency could interfere with the efficiency of agricultural production.   
Mitigating Tools: 

• Confine farm events to farmstead areas. 
• Limit the number of annual occurrences to avoid disruption of efficient agricultural operations.   

Packet Page 1035



Compatibility with a low level existing facilities and services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, monitoring, etc.) 
Considerations: 

• Farm events would require parking and an event space.    
o The event space could be in an existing permanent structure such as a barn or farm residence or could be a 

temporary structure such as a tent. 
• The level of facilities and services increases with the size of the event. 
• Farm events would require some level of oversight by OSMP staff.   
• While farm events charge a fee, it is not for access but in exchange for a meal with products grown on-site.  

Mitigating Tools: 
• Require lessee to provide all temporary facilities (e.g. tents).   
• Limit the size of the events to reduce the level of facilities and services needed.   
• Limit parking to the farmstead area or area approved by OSMP staff 

Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 
Considerations 

• If the activities are allowed in farmstead areas, participants would be in an area with farmers operating equipment some of 
which is motorized and/or mechanical.  The concentration of these two uses in a single area may not be safe for 
participants.   

Mitigating Tools: 
• Evenings and weekends, the times farm events and dinners are likely to occur, are not common hours of operation for 

farming. 
Compatibility with other activities/other visitor’s experiences 
Considerations: 

• While OSMP farms are open to the public, they are not currently popular destinations for OSMP visitors.  The lack of visitor 
activity leads to the conclusion that there would not be a high level of visitor conflict with participants in other activities.   

o Visitors could still walk through the farm as operations are not closed to the public, they would only be unable to 
participate in the dinner/taking food without paying which is consistent with current regulations.   

 

Packet Page 1036



Farm Events Recommendation and Rationale 

Due to compatibility issues with agricultural operations and the potential high levels of visitor facilities and services, staff is 
recommending allowing farm-to-table dinners, but no other farm events.  Staff recommends that farm-to-table dinners be permitted 
with conditions since they offer educational benefits to the community and direct marketing opportunities for lessees.  

Farm to Table Event Conditions: 

o Only permitted on properties with farmstead infrastructure appropriate for accommodating this use. 
o All activities will be confined to within the farmstead area. 
o OSMP leasees would be limited to two farm-to-table dinners annually.1 
o Dinners would be limited to 50 persons.   
o Dinners with fewer than 26 people, and not considered events per the Boulder County Land Use Code, would still require 

compliance with these conditions as long as a fee is exchanged for goods. 
o Rent must be up to date. 
o All outstanding management issues (identified by OSMP staff) must be addressed. 
o All events must be approved by OSMP staff. 
o Events with 1-26 participants require OSMP staff approval and count toward the maximum (=2).   

 

1 Agricultural Properties in Boulder County are permitted per the Boulder County Land Use Code, as a use-by-right, six farm events annually, and 
possibly 7-12 with additional review.   A venue hosting 12 or more events is considered a Reception Hall or Community Facilities Meeting Use.    

Packet Page 1037



Farm Stand/Store 
Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP lands 
Considerations: 

• Farm stands/stores do not require an agricultural setting (e.g. farmer’s market).   
• Most agricultural producers have alternative venues to sell their products such as CSAs and farmer’s markets.   

Ability to increase peoples’ appreciation of agriculture or understanding of Open Space purposes 
Considerations: 

• Farm stands/stores may increase visits to open space.  Their presence could aid in a visitor’s, or persons passing by, 
understanding of agricultural production on OSMP lands and the locally grown products available.   

• Farm stands/stores may connect people, who live near or frequently pass by the farms, to the agricultural production 
occurring in their surrounding community.   

Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural and other resources 
Considerations: 

• Farm stands/stores are directly related to an aspect of agricultural production, i.e. selling; it is an extension of an activity 
directly related to and supporting agricultural production.  

• Farm stands/stores provide farmers additional venues and opportunities to directly sell their products to consumers. 
Compatibility with a low level existing facilities and services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, monitoring, etc.) 
Considerations: 

• Farm stands/ stores would require a structure.  The stand or store could be in an existing permanent structure such as a 
barn or other outbuilding existing on the farm or could be in a temporary structure such as a tent. 

• The level of facilities and services increases with the size and frequency that the store is operated.  
• Farm stands/stores would require some level of oversight by OSMP staff.  The most staff time is anticipated during the initial 

Boulder County Land Use review/approval process and site set up.   
Mitigating Tools: 

• Require lessee to provide all temporary facilities (e.g., tents).    
Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 
No Considerations 
Compatibility with other activities/other visitor’s experiences 
No Considerations 

 Staff is recommending permitting farm stands/stores on locations approved by staff and in compliance with the BCLU Code.  Farm 
stands/stores are both compatible with agricultural production and may directly help connect the products to local consumers.   

 
Packet Page 1038



Demonstration Farms and Farm Camps 

Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP lands 
Considerations: 

• Demonstration farms and farm camps require an agricultural setting. 
• Boulder County Parks and Open Space staff runs a demonstration farm.  
• Farm Camps, catering to youth, are offered on private farms in Boulder County.   

Ability to increase peoples’ appreciation of agriculture or understanding of Open Space purposes 
Considerations: 

• Demonstration farms and farm camps would aid in a participant’s knowledge of agricultural production on OSMP lands, as 
the purpose is to share, teach, or evaluate farming practices or techniques.   

Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural and other resources 
Considerations: 

• Demonstration farms are directly related to an aspect of agricultural production i.e. evaluating farming practices or 
techniques and teaching those techniques to farmers. 

o Farm camps are not directly related.  Farm camps generally do not evaluate various techniques but instead focus on 
teaching or sharing basic farming practices to non-industry or youth participants. 

• Providing farmers and/or interested people the opportunity to learn about farming techniques can contribute to the long-
term sustainability of agriculture in the Boulder Valley, the success of local farms and engage the next generation of farmers 
or local food enthusiasts.  

• Demonstration farms and farm camps would need suitable land and all the accompanying structures and infrastructure.  It is 
unlikely a traditional agricultural operation could simultaneously operate as a demonstration farm or farm camp (using the 
same facilities/ outbuildings).  The activities related to a camp or demonstration farm may interfere with the efficiency of 
agricultural operations and production.   

Mitigating Tools: 
• In order to keep land leased to agricultural operators in agricultural production, demonstration farms and farm camps on 

OSMP lands could be limited to those administered by the department and/or a department/educational institution 
partnership.   

Compatibility with a low level of existing facilities and services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, monitoring, 
etc.) 
Considerations: 

Packet Page 1039



• Demonstration farms and farm camps would require parking.   
• Demonstration farms and farm camps would require the typical farmstead/agricultural structures.   
• Demonstration farms and farm camps, if administered by the department, would require a substantial amount of staff time.  

However, outreach and education is an established and important OSMP service provided to the community.   
Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 
No Considerations 
Compatibility with other activities/other visitor’s experiences 
No Considerations 

• While OSMP farms are open to the public, they are not currently popular destinations for OSMP visitors.  The lack of visitor 
activity leads to the conclusion that there would not be a high level of visitor conflict with participants in other activities.   

Visitors could still walk through the farm as operations are not closed to the public; they would be unable to participate in the 
demonstration/camp without paying or registering which is consistent with current regulations.   
 

Recommendation and Rationale 

Due to demonstration camps’ and farm camps’ compatibility with agricultural production, interference with daily agricultural 
operations, staff is recommending these activities continue to not be permitted on OSMP leased agricultural lands.  However, due to the 
educational benefits, support to the farming community and potential benefits to agricultural production, staff recommends that 
demonstration farms be permitted on OSMP lands/farmsteads operated by OSMP staff or in partnership with OSMP.   

 

Packet Page 1040



Community Gardens 
Dependence on an agricultural setting/OSMP lands 
Considerations: 

• Community gardens do not depend upon an agricultural setting.   The preferred locations for  
community gardens are locations in close proximity or adjacent to high/medium density residential areas.  Participants are 
often seeking a convenient and proximal location to their residence. 

• There are currently opportunities in the City of Boulder and Boulder County to participate in community gardening.   
Ability to increase peoples’ appreciation of agriculture or understanding of Open Space purposes 
Considerations: 

• Community gardens may increase visits to open space.  These visits may lead to an increased awareness of open space lands 
and knowledge about gardening/growing food.  However, it would not aid in a visitor’s understanding of agricultural 
production or the agricultural importance of open space lands.     

Compatibility with the preservation of  agricultural and other resources  
Considerations: 

• Community gardens would require land to be taken out of traditional agricultural production.   
o Although the land used for community gardens might still be considered to be in agricultural production, as 

successful participants would harvest food, it is up to the participant’s discretion to decide what to plant and not all 
participants will be successful in producing food.   

o The land will be removed from cultivation by an experienced/proven farmer and instead be cultivated by interested 
people with varying levels of skills, interests and time.   

• The properties suitable for community gardens are limited by soil and water requirements and are the same as those 
suitable to be leased for diversified vegetable farming.  Prime farmland which meets the soil and water requirements is 
uncommon on OSMP lands. 

•   Community gardens would remove prime farmland from traditional agricultural production.   
Compatibility with a low level of existing facilities and services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, monitoring, 
etc.) 
Considerations: 

• Community gardens would require a parking area and irrigation infrastructure.  
• Community gardens would require a very high level of visitor services.  
• Staff would have many “lessees” in a relatively small area.  In more traditional forms of agricultural stewardship, a single 

Packet Page 1041



lessee has responsibility for large areas.  Establishing, operating and maintaining a program would require substantial and 
additional staffing.   

Mitigating Tools: 
• A site could be could be leased to a community group which could in turn, sublet garden plots and address the operation 

and maintenance of the program. 
Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 
No Considerations 
Compatibility with other activities/other visitor’s experiences 
Considerations: 

• Community gardening would likely have no more impacts to other visitors than vegetable farms. The properties could 
potentially remain open to non-participating members of the public.   

 

Recommendation and Rationale 

Due to compatibility issues with agricultural production, i.e. taking prime farmland out of agricultural production, the high level of 
visitor facilities and services community gardens would require and preferable existing and potential locations on other lands, staff 
recommends that community gardens not be permitted on OSMP lands.   

 

Packet Page 1042



 Food Forests 

Dependence on an agricultural setting and/or OSMP lands 
Considerations: 

• Food forests do not depend upon an agricultural setting.    
• There are currently no food forests in the City of Boulder or Boulder County.  An edible educational demonstration garden is 

planned for City lands. 
Ability to increase peoples’ appreciation of agriculture or understanding of Open Space purposes 
Considerations: 

• Food forests may increase visits to open space.  These visits may lead to an increased awareness of open space lands and 
knowledge about permaculture principles.  However, such visits by themselves would not aid in a visitor’s understanding of 
agricultural production or the agricultural importance of open space lands.     

Compatibility with the preservation of agricultural and other resources 
Considerations: 

• Food forests would require either land to be taken out of traditional agricultural production or the conversion of other open 
space land with suitable soils and water.     

• Although the land used for food forests might still be considered to be in agricultural production, the primary purpose is not 
agricultural production but recreational in nature.   

• Converting a non-agricultural property into a food forest would require the planting of a garden of non-native plants on 
natural open space lands.  One of the purposes of OSMP is the preservation and restoration of natural ecosystems.    

• Visitors to the food forest are encouraged/allowed to pick and eat fruit which might require the visitor to travel off trail.  
Extensive or repeated off-trail travel could lead to areas denude of ground vegetation.  Encouraging visitor to be off trail in 
some areas of OSMP would be contrary to direction in the VMP encouraging on-trail visitation. 

Mitigating Tools: 
• Create a trail system to serve the food forest.  This would likely be a higher density of trails than found on other OSMP 

properties as the trails would need to wind through the forest to be effective in mitigating the ground disturbance created 
by visitors going to the base of the various trees and shrubs.   

Compatibility with a low level of existing facilities and services (e.g. parking, minimal maintenance, enforcement, monitoring, 
etc.) 
Considerations: 

• Food forests would require a garden/orchard of perennial food-producing trees and shrubs.  Typically the only visitor 

Packet Page 1043



infrastructure provided for passive recreation activities are trails and trailheads.  Activities which require more infrastructure 
are not considered passive recreation. 

• Food forests, depending on the site, might require irrigation infrastructure.  
• A trail and/or access for visitors would be required.   
• Food forests would require pruning and ongoing maintenance, a higher level of ongoing maintenance than the natural 

ecosystems comprising open space.   
Mitigating Tools: 

• Only permit food forests in areas that have adequate groundwater conditions to support perennial trees and shrubs without 
added irrigation infrastructure. 

• The land could be leased by a community group that would be responsible for maintenance, similar to a structure often 
used by community gardens.  However, leasing land to interested community groups in order to provide their desired 
recreational visitor experience (even if shared by OSMP) and maintaining the infrastructure is inconsistent with the 
department’s past practices and operational policies.   

Compatibility with providing a safe recreational experience 
No Considerations 
Compatibility with other activities/other visitor’s experiences 
Considerations: 

• Visitors would typically be either hiking, biking, or riding a horse through a food forest.  Food forests provide an alternative 
landscape/backdrop to the currently permitted passive recreational opportunities.   

 

Recommendation and Rationale 

Due to compatibility issues with the preservation of agricultural and natural resources and the high level of visitor facilities and services, 
staff is recommending that food forests not be permitted on OSMP lands.   

Packet Page 1044



Agricultural Structures 
 

Purpose and Need 
The City Charter allows for structures and other improvements on Open Space lands for permitted uses, as long as they are 
necessary for open agricultural use.  The types of agricultural structures permitted, especially greenhouses and hoophouses, have 
come into question with more frequency as there has been an increased desire to diversify the types of agricultural operations on 
OSMP lands to include more diversified vegetable farming.   In 2010 City Council directed staff to explore whether City Charter 
provisions related to structures on Open Space should be amended to allow for infrastructure to increase the length of the 
growing season.   
 
This analysis is intended to provide clarity surrounding the agricultural structures permitted on city Open Space, including 
answering the question of the appropriateness of greenhouses and hoophouses on OMSP lands.  This analysis also provides a 
framework for evaluating proposed new or replacement agricultural structures.   
 

Existing Policy Guidance 
The Boulder City Charter (Charter) Section 176 prohibits the improvement of open space land after it has been acquired by the 
city unless the improvements are necessary to protect or maintain the land or to provide for passive recreational, open 
agricultural, or wildlife habitat use of the land.   
 
The City Council approved 1995 Open Space and Mountain Parks Long Range Management Policies (LRMP) also address 
agricultural facilities through the following policies:  
o Facilities can be constructed on OSMP land if necessary to support approved activities as specified in an Open Space 

management plan (and in accordance with the Charter Section 176).   
o Structures should be consistent with Open Space purposes, be compatible with natural processes, functional, energy efficient 

and cost-effective.   
o Existing buildings will be considered before new construction is contemplated. 
o All facility costs including initial construction, refurbishment, or restoration, ongoing maintenance and operational costs 

should be considered. 
o Facilities will be integrated into the Open Space environment so as to result in minimum impact. 
o Facilities will be designed and developed to avoid competing with or dominating Open Space features.   

Packet Page 1045



Definitions 
Greenhouses (aka Glass Houses) 
Greenhouses are used to extend the growing season earlier in the spring and 
later in the fall.   
They are permanent structures.  The frames are made of aluminum, 
galvanized steel, or wood.  Glazings are glass, rigid clear plastic, or 
polyethylene. Greenhouses have heat, mechanical ventilation, artificial light, 
and irrigation systems.  Greenhouses offer a controlled environment and 
plants are not typically grown directly in the ground.  
 
Hoop Houses (aka High Tunnels) 
Like greenhouses, hoop houses are used to extend the growing season.  They 
are typically tall enough to allow walk-in access.  The frame is PVC, 
aluminum, or galvanized steel, with wood for hip and baseboards. The 
frames are then covered in plastic. Plants are typically grown directly in the 
ground.  Hoop houses lack the precision of an environmentally-controlled 
greenhouse, as they rely on passive heating and cooling.   
 

 
Analysis 
Open Agriculture 
 
While there is not a standard definition for open agriculture, OSMP staff interprets it to mean: Agricultural production where the 
products are grown (or raised) in a manner in which they can interact with the environment.   
 
Staff considers hoophouses and the crops grown in them as open agriculture because the crops are grown in the ground and 
while the covering moderates temperatures it is not a tightly controlled environment.   Using the same criteria, greenhouses do 
not meet the standard for open agriculture. However, the issue becomes more complex if crops are only started in a greenhouse 
and then transplanted to an open space field.  The City Attorney’s Office issued an opinion that crops started in a greenhouse and 

Packet Page 1046



then transplanted to Open Space could classify as open agriculture.  In response, staff has included both types of structures in the 
evaluation.   
 
Necessary for Open Agriculture 
Under the most strict or narrow interpretation, neither hoophouses or greenhouses are necessary for an open agricultural 
operation.  There are multiple types of agricultural operations such as livestock, hay or other perennial production that do not 
require hoophouses or greenhouses.  Annual vegetable farms do not require hoophouses or greenhouses. The growing season is 
generally long enough in the Boulder Valley to produce a limited selection of vegetables.   However, structures to extend the 
growing season are necessary for vegetable farms to be economically viable and competitive.  The primary factors that 
contribute to the viability are the longer season of production and the broader diversity of crops.  The value of these structures 
for agricultural production predates the current and increasing interest in local foods as the Charter seems to anticipate the need 
for improvements to support agricultural operations.  In that regard and acknowledging the city’s interest in increasing vegetable 
and local food production, staff considers hoophouses and under certain limited circumstances greenhouses consistent with the 
relevant sections of the Charter.     
 
Alternatives Comparison 
Recognizing the necessity of hoophouses or greenhouses for successful vegetable farms, staff focused next on selecting the most 
appropriate type of structure to meet the need.  When choosing between alternative structure types, staff looked to the guidance 
provided by the Open Space LRMP, and determined that energy efficiency and cost effectiveness were the key criteria for 
comparing alternatives.  In regards to hoophouses and greenhouses there are significant differences in both energy efficiency and 
cost effectiveness.   Traditional greenhouses are notorious energy hogs,1 both for heating and supplemental lighting, while 
passive solar and net zero greenhouses lack the production capacity of traditional greenhouses and cost 13 times more per 
square foot to construct.2  The construction costs and energy used per unit area are much higher for greenhouses.  One study 
estimated glass-panel greenhouse construction at over $30.00 per square foot.  Given the suitability of hoophouses to extend the 
growing season at much lower initial and ongoing costs including less energy, staff is recommending hoophouses be permitted 
on OSMP lands with staff approval and greenhouses be prohibited on OSMP lands.  The following flowchart illustrates the 
process for determining if a type of structure is appropriate for OSMP lands.  

1 Kinney, L., Hutson, J., Stiles, M., and Glute, G.  Energy Efficient Greenhouse Breakthrough: 2012 Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Building, and Ladd, C. “Giant 
Greenhouses Mean Flavorful Tomatoes All Year.” New York Times.  30 March 2010.  
http://www.nytimes.com/2010/03/31/dining/31tomoato.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0  
2 Pena, JG. Grrenhouse Vegetable Production Economic Consideration, Marketing and Financing.  http://aggie-
horticulture.tamu.edu/greenhouse/hydroponics/economics.html  

Packet Page 1047

http://www.nytimes.com/2010/03/31/dining/31tomoato.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0
http://aggie-horticulture.tamu.edu/greenhouse/hydroponics/economics.html
http://aggie-horticulture.tamu.edu/greenhouse/hydroponics/economics.html


 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Charter Test:  
“necessary for open agriculture”? 

 
Structure Alternatives? 

Cost 
Effective? 

 
 

 

no 

yes 

Not 
permitted 

  
 

Permitted 
on OSMP 

 

 

Not 
permitted 

  
 

Permitted 
on OSMP 

 

Staff Review: 
Aesthetic Impact 
Costs 
Neighborhood Compatibility 
Building Site 
Other Structures 
 

Staff Review: 
Aesthetic Impact 
Costs 
Neighborhood 
Compatibility 

  
  

 

yes no 

no 

yes 

Packet Page 1048



Agricultural Structures Policy 
 
The types of structures permitted on OSMP agricultural lands must be consistent with Open Space purposes, necessary for open 
agriculture, and a cost effective and energy efficient way to meet the agricultural need.  
 
The following types of structures are permitted on OSMP lands 

• Barns 
• Corrals 
• Loafing sheds 
• Livestock shelter 
• Hoophouses 
• Outbuildings 
• Storage sheds 
• Irrigation water distribution structures 

 
The following types of structures are not permitted on OSMP lands: 

• New residences (residences on Open Space are limited to those existing on the properties at the time of acquisition) 
• Greenhouses 

 
Replacement or new structures/facilities on agricultural properties may be allowed, but first require OSMP staff approval and be 
allowed per the Boulder County Land Use Code.  OSMP staff will consider the following when making a determination on a case-
by-case basis: 

• Structures/facilities shall not remove land from agricultural production. 
• Structures/facilities will be integrated into the Open Space environment so as to result in minimum impact.  Facilities will 

be designed and developed to avoid competing with or dominating Open Space features.   
• All structure/facility costs including initial construction, refurbishment, or restoration, ongoing maintenance and 

operational costs. 
• Neighborhood compatibility. 
• Proximity to building sites. 
• Number of and uses of existing structures. 

Packet Page 1049



 

 
INFORMATION PACKET 

MEMORANDUM 
  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) 
 Mark Gershman, OSMP Environmental Planning Supervisor 
 Deryn Ruth Wagner, OSMP Planner 
 Annie Noble, Greenways Program  
 Dave “DK” Kemp, GO-Boulder 
 Jeff Haley, Parks and Recreation 
 
Date:  December 15, 2015 
 
Subject: Information Item: Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail  
 
Executive summary 

The purpose of this memo is to provide council with background information and project status for the 
Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail project, a cross-departmental, interagency effort being led by the 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) – Central Federal Lands Highway Division. 

This memo includes: 

 Background information on the Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail project; 
 Study area and potential alignments under consideration in an ongoing feasibility study; 
 Project details such as who is involved, current status and next steps 
 Details on the proposed approach to engage the community and raise awareness 
 Proposed timeline of outreach activities 

What is the Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail? 
As part of President Barack Obama’s America’s Great Outdoors initiative introduced in 2011, Colorado is 
embarking on the Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail (RMGT) project to help connect residents to the great 
outdoors. The project was first introduced by then-U.S. Secretary of the Interior Ken Salazar and 
Colorado Governor John Hickenlooper as a way to build and protect our natural heritage and connect 
Coloradans (particularly young residents) with this heritage. 
 
The goal of the Rocky Mountain Greenway is to create an uninterrupted network of trails and 
transportation systems that connects three urban wildlife refuges with Rocky Mountain National Park. 
The trail would link the Rocky Mountain Arsenal National Wildlife Refuge (NWR) in Commerce City, 

Packet Page 1050



Two Ponds NWR in Arvada, and the Rocky Flats NWR before continuing through Boulder County and 
the City of Boulder toward Rocky Mountain National Park. The RMGT will – as much as possible – use 
existing trails to create this newly branded regional trail network. The project will also make initial 
recommendations for new trail segments needed to fill gaps. Although regional in nature, a primary 
intention of this trail is to create connections throughout Front Range communities, giving residents and 
visitors opportunities to enjoy the outdoors and move from one community to the next without getting in 
a car. 
 
Overall project significance 
The outdoor recreation industry provides a tremendous economic boost to the state, contributing more 
than $10 billion annually to our economy while supporting more than 100,000 jobs in Colorado and 
generating $500 million in state tax revenues. 
 
Beyond these economic considerations, a regional network of interconnected trails provides benefits in 
terms of improving public health and conserving natural resources by offering alternatives to motorized 
transportation. 
 
Former Interior Secretary Salazar characterized this project as “America’s next great urban park.” This 
project will reflect the overall mission of the America’s Great Outdoors initiative, which is to encourage 
and support local, consensus-based conservation and recreation projects that strengthen the economy and 
create stronger communities through greater access to open spaces and outdoor recreation.  
 
Project teams 
Project management and coordination is led by the project team for this feasibility study, which includes: 

- Federal Highway Administration, Central Federal Lands Highway Division 
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 6 
- Atkins North America, Inc., Transportation Planning, Civil Engineering and Design, Water 

Resource Engineering 
- PKM Designs, Landscape Architecture, Environmental Planning 

With representation from federal, state and local levels, the steering committee provides overall 
leadership for the effort. This committee consists of representatives from the Colorado Department of 
Natural Resources, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Jefferson County, Boulder County, City and County 
of Denver, City of Aurora, Trust for Public Land, and several private organizations. Locally, the City of 
Boulder and surrounding neighbors are represented on this Steering Committee by Boulder County 
Commissioner Deb Gardner. 
 
As members of the core team, local agency representatives are playing a major role in the project’s 
development, particularly in the areas between the Rocky Flats NWR and RMNP where the trail 
alignment is not established and a feasibility study is underway to determine the best route. Agencies 
serving on the core team to assist with these efforts include: 

- City of Boulder 
- Boulder County 
- City and County of Broomfield 

Packet Page 1051



- Colorado Department of Transportation 
- Colorado State Parks 
- Federal Highway Administration, Central Federal Lands Highway Division 
- Jefferson County 
- Town of Lyons 
- Town of Superior 
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 

Within the city, staff from several departments have collaborated to provide input, including Open Space 
and Mountain Parks, Parks and Recreation, Transportation/GO-Boulder, and the Greenways Program. 
 
Study area 
A previous trail study for one portion of the larger RMGT examined feasible connections between the 
Two Ponds NWR and the Rocky Flats NWR. The feasibility study for that project was completed in 
2013, with construction for that section anticipated in 2016.   
 
As an extension of those efforts, the current study area 
includes Rocky Flats NWR, the counties of Boulder, 
Jefferson, and Broomfield and the cities and towns of 
Superior, Louisville, Boulder, Longmont, and Lyons. 
The study area is roughly bounded by U.S. Route 36 
(US 36) to the west, US Route 287 (US 287) to the 
east, State Highway 66 (SH 66) to the north, and Rocky 
Flats NWR to the south. An overview of the entire 
study area is shown in Figure 1. 
 
Potential alignments 
To better understand the defining characteristics within 
the project, the study area has been divided into the 
four segments (shown in Figure 2). Within each 
segment, all three teams have collaborated to develop 
two to three conceptual alignments for further 
exploration in the feasibility study. Those concepts will 
be further refined as the project proceeds and reviewed 
by the public, respective city boards and council. These 
segments include:  
  

Figure 1: Study Area 

Packet Page 1052



 
Segment 1: Segment 1 starts at Rocky 
Flats National Wildlife Refuge and 
includes the proposed trail alignments 
within the refuge as well as the 
connections from the refuge into the City 
of Broomfield and Boulder County.  
 
Segment 2: This segment encompasses 
the area between the Rocky Flats NWR 
and urban Boulder. This area is primarily 
open space and agricultural land that 
contains a number of existing unpaved 
trails. US 36 and the adjacent bikeway 
between Superior and Boulder also falls 
in Segment 2. 
 
Segment 3: This segment travels through 
the City of Boulder and includes facilities 
through the urban areas. This section 
consists of an extensive existing network 
of both on-street and off-street facilities.  
 
Segment 4: This segment is from 
Boulder to Lyons. This part of the project 
examines gaps in the various trail 
networks between the urban portion of 
the City of Boulder and the Town of 
Lyons.  

 
Relationship to Open Space and Mountain Parks North Trail Study Area (North TSA) Plan 
While the North TSA Plan deals only with OSMP-managed lands in the trail study area, the Rocky 
Mountain Greenway Trail project focuses on trail gaps or opportunities to connect OSMP lands with 
lands owned and/or managed by Boulder County and others. Potential regional trail corridors through this 
area have been identified and advanced through a variety of public processes in the past, some led by 
OSMP, some led by others departments or agencies. Relevant regional trail concepts put forward by these 
planning processes will be reconsidered in the North TSA planning process – specifically as they relate to 
alignments within OSMP-managed lands. The RMGT will consider those same ideas, and others, as they 
relate to opportunities outside OSMP-managed lands. The timing of public outreach for both the North 
TSA Plan and the RMGT are being coordinated to help clarify this distinction. 
 

Figure 2: Trail Segments 

Packet Page 1053



Project status 
Three site visits were conducted earlier this year in the current study area with Core Team members from 
the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Boulder County, City of Boulder, Town of Superior, and Town of 
Lyons. Each site visit included a look at existing trails, potential trail alignments and constraints within 
each jurisdiction. 
 
Based on site visits, input from the core team, and an evaluation of existing facilities, a draft scoping 
report has been produced. This report will be further developed to incorporate public input, environmental 
considerations, and the overall feasibility of closing gaps in the regional network. 
 
The next step is to introduce the concept of the RMGT to the public and gain input and incorporate public 
perspective into the study. Along with the feasibility study being conducted for the western section of the 
RMGT, the project is also undertaking a behind-the-scenes branding effort to help put a recognizable 
“face” on the project when it comes time to sharing information across multiple jurisdictions and 
communities. These efforts include developing a project logo, as well as designing a website that can be 
used to share information and, where appropriate, gather input on specific planning elements. 
 
Community awareness and engagement 
Because the trail alignment east of Rocky Flats NWR follows pre-existing trails, the outreach approach 
for this section of the RMGT is more focused on sharing information and raising awareness of the overall 
program. Through the Rocky Flats property and continuing on to the north and west, however, there is 
opportunity to not only raise awareness of the project, but to also engage the community in providing 
input on the proposed connections.  
 
The overarching objectives of the outreach program are to raise overall awareness of this project in the 
communities through which the trail will be located, and to reveal specific concerns that could be useful 
when studying the feasibility of various trail connections with the Rocky Flats NWR. 
 
Led by the FHWA project team and consultants, this approach will include engaging in multi-tiered 
communications that reach different stakeholders. Messages will first be shared with steering committee 
members before gradually expanding outreach efforts to reach project partners, key influencers, 
government agencies, non-government organizations and eventually all segments of the community. 
 
Along with establishing a recognizable identity for the project, the outreach program focuses on 
consistent messaging in these four areas:  
 

1. Project Vision  
These messages will focus on the purpose of the program and how it aligns with the purpose of 
the America’s Great Outdoors initiative.   
 

Packet Page 1054



2. Project Progress 
These messages will focus on the development of specific trail segments, including those that are 
already completed and those that are in the study or planning phase. 
 

3. Project Education 
These messages will focus on the overall benefits of outdoor recreation in general and the specific 
benefits offered by this project. 
 

4. Project Scoping 
These messages will focus on the logistics of how the trail integrates with other transportation 
systems and how trail users can navigate specific trail segments. 

Outreach and engagement strategies 
Stakeholders will vary in the type of information they need, when they need this information, and the 
amount of detail included in this information. For example, local government representatives will be 
interested in receiving updates on trail planning activities in their jurisdiction while trail users will want to 
know how they can access the trail once it opens. 
 
To encourage broad dissemination of program information, the FHWA team will turn to individuals and 
organizations that can effectively share the project messages. This includes elected officials, government 
staff and the aforementioned project partner agencies and organizations. In developing these partnerships, 
the project team will assess the existing communication channels managed by these various organizations 
and determine the feasibility of using these channels to share RMGT information. These channels could 
include: 

• Organizational newsletters 
• Websites 
• Standing meetings 
• Email distribution lists 
• Social media channels 

Where there are opportunities for community members to offer input, FHWA will engage in more 
interactive, two-way communications. This will include the use of online collaboration sites like 
MindMixer and Nextdoor and possibly setting up a crowd sourcing site similar to walkbikeconnect.org. 
 
Engaging the community also means going to where the people are, such as meeting with homeowners’ 
associations or civic clubs, conducting site tours and hosting public meetings.  
 
Proposed outreach tools and tactics 
To maximize our effectiveness at reaching different stakeholder groups, FHWA will use a mix of printed, 
electronic and interpersonal outreach tactics to share information with the public and incorporate two-way 
communication methods to collect feedback when it is appropriate to do so. Some of our tactics will be 
passive in nature while others will be more dynamic, requiring stakeholders to be more engaged. 
Outreach tools and tactics that could be implemented as the program budget allows include: 
 

Packet Page 1055



 

Printed Materials 

Project fact sheet 
Answers to frequently asked questions 
Key messages document 
Direct mail pieces 
Trail maps 
Banners and signs 
Project brochure 
Outdoor recreation education materials 

Electronic Communications 

Project website  
E-mail updates such as Friday Facts 
Social media updates 
Project e-newsletter 
YouTube videos and simulations 
Information hotline recording 
Online crowd sourcing map 
Teleconferencing 
Online surveys 

Interpersonal Communications  

Small group presentations 
One-on-one meetings with key influencers 
Interactive information kiosk 
Focus group meetings 
Elected official briefings 
Citizens Advisory Committees 
Site tours and interpretive hikes 
Special events such as ribbon cutting ceremonies 
Speaker’s bureau 

 
Next Steps and timeline of outreach efforts 
The project team is currently finalizing its logo and a project website. These resources will offer the basic 
messages and information to take into the community. This process will begin with key influencers 
including members of the Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail Steering Committee, elected officials, and 
partner or affinity organizations. FHWA will ideally begin this process in late 2015, continuing into early 
2016. 
 
From this core constituency, FHWA and other team members will start to identify other community 
members and organizations to involve in the process in order to host a series of public open houses/public 
meetings next spring to gather feedback on proposed alignments to narrow these options.  

Packet Page 1056



Boards and Commissions 
BoZA 10-08-15

3A     Page 1Packet Page 1057



Boards and Commissions 
BoZA 10-08-15

3A     Page 2Packet Page 1058



Boards and Commissions 
BoZA 10-08-15

3A     Page 3Packet Page 1059



   

 
 

 CITY OF BOULDER 

BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING 

MINUTES 

Name of Board/ Commission:  Library Commission 

Date of Meeting: September 2, 2015 at the Meadows Branch Library, 4800 Baseline Road 

Contact Information Preparing Summary: Carrie Mills, 303-441-3106 

Commission Members Present: Paul Sutter, Joni Teter, Donna O’Brien, and Tim O’Shea 

Commission Members Absent: Alicia Gibb 

Library Staff Present:    

                          David Farnan, Director of Library & Arts    

                          Jennifer Miles, Deputy Library Director   

                          Eileen McCluskey, Public Services Manager 

                          Hillary Dodge, Meadows Branch Manager 

                          Carrie Mills, Administrative Specialist II 

                          Dick Shahan 

 

Type of Meeting:  Regular  

Agenda Item 1:  Call to Order and Approval of Agenda                                                  [6:01 p.m., Audio min]                                                                                  

The meeting was called to order at 6:01 p.m. An updated agenda was provided in the handouts, found here: 

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf.  Sutter noted that the major changes 

in the revised agenda were removing the Boulder County Farmers’ Market presentation and adding the 2015 ballot 

issue discussion. Sutter added discussion of the Jaipur Literature Festival under the Library Commission memo. 

 

Agenda Item 2: Public Participation                                                                                   [6:03 p.m., Audio min] 

Shahan thanked the commission for attending the staff appreciation ice cream social. He voiced one complaint from a 

colleague who arrived in the final 30 minutes of the event to discover that the event had ended earlier than expected. 

Further, Shahan shared staff concerns about the cleaning service at the Main Library. In reviewing the proposed budget 

for 2016, Shahan noticed one less staff position in eServices and a $67,000 reduction in Access Services. Sutter replied 

that the commissioners were aware of the cleaning issues. Farnan explained that the administration is reviewing the 

contract and working towards a smooth transition to another service.  In regards to the budget questions, Farnan noted 

that one position currently supervised by the City of Boulder Information Technology department will be transferred to 

the IT budget in 2016, such that the position will continue to exist in a new capacity. Farnan and Miles were unsure of 

the reason for the Access Services reduction but agreed to have an answer for the next commission meeting. Teter 

offered her apologies to the staff member who voiced her concerns regarding the ice cream social. 

 

Agenda Item 3:  Consent Agenda                                                                                         [6:09 p.m., Audio min]  

 

Item 3A, Approval of August 5, 2015 meeting minutes (p. 2-5) 

Teter clarified that the name of the group for the Egyptian programs in October is the Egyptian Study Society. Sutter 

recommended adding clarification on future action to the community information policy, noting that the commission 

asked staff to review the policy and return with a new draft. Teter motioned to approve the minutes with the 

recommended changes. O’Brien seconded. Vote 4-0, unanimous. 

 

Item 3B, Approval of Warner Charitable Trust donation (p. 6) 
Sutter read the resolution to approve the Warner Charitable Trust, found here: https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-

content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf#page=6 . O’Shea motioned to accept the Warner Charitable Trust 

donation. O’Brien seconded. Vote 4-0, unanimous. O’Brien recommended the Library Commission send a thank you 

letter to the remaining family members, as was done last year, and other commissioners agreed.  

 

Agenda Item 4: Review updates to the Sponsorship of Programs and Events Policy    [6:14 p.m., Audio min]                                                                         

Farnan introduced the revised draft, explaining that the original was well-intentioned, but staff needed to reconsider the 

ability to offer staffing. McCluskey noted that basic support was available, but staff could not maintain a reliable and 

adequate staff pool. She elaborated further, saying that the library leadership team was looking to staff events as needed 

to provide quality programs. McCluskey believed staffing abilities would be sorted out by 2016. 

 

Packet Page 1060

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf#page=6
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf#page=6


   

 
 

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 O’Brien confused by recurring programs policy to clarify. Sutter agreed.  
 Sutter recommended adjusting information to reflect order. 
 Sutter wondered if situations would exist where library may provide staff service for free. McCluskey wanted 

flexibility to allow for capacity to offer staffing. Managers do their best to staff, but want to keep expectations 

low. Farnan asked if Sutter foresaw a problem. Sutter could see a problem with fluctuation. Miles 

recommended designation of availability as the qualifier regardless of content of program. Teter agreed – 

based on availability and staffing needs.  
 Teter recommended a line about what the training consists of – not an intimidating training. Farnan 

recommended “attend a half hour audiovisual training” 
 O’Shea wondered about the possibility of damage. Farnan noted inconsistency in quality of equipment as 

major problem.  
 Sutter recommended adding “Prearranged staff assistance may be provided, usually for an additional fee to 

cover staff costs, for audiovisual equipment.”  
 O’Shea wanted to know if all staff would be trained. McCluskey explained that all designated library staff 

known as “Persons in Charge” (P.I.C.) are trained.  
 O’Brien motioned to accept the proposed policy revisions with additions to go forward. Teter seconded. Vote 

4-0, unanimous.  
 Teter commented on steering applicants towards sponsorship – worry of equity if Teter can book many rooms, 

but patrons are limited to once. Sutter recommended next agenda should include discussion. O’Brien would 

like to discuss with more information, including anecdotal. Farnan to put together small presentation on future 

steps prior to revising policy. Policy intended to prevent monopolization. Recommended to bring back in 

November if better timing.  
 

Agenda Item 5: Status update of 2015 Library Commission priorities                         [6:34 p.m., Audio 32:55 min] 

Sutter noted taking stock in preparation for future letter. Having Small Business Development Center (SBDC) move 

into Main Library was a huge opportunity. Culture programming. Labor intensive process for meeting room. Activation 

is increasing the dynamics. Gap on e-books to be filled. Do not anticipate waiting lists to decrease – may work with 

targeted title. Collection report to come soon. Hoping for all in library consortium to contribute more e-books. Most 

success is customer service model seen on first floor. Still without a call center. Process to begin in January – set up 

within 3-6 months. Staff in Access Services is thriving. Reynolds and Meadows hours restored. Remarkable return on 

investment. Staff shifted out. Farnan remarked on the success of NoBo Corner Library – layout, quality team.  

Impending nature play where the Pooh Garden is and beyond. Great addition. Considering access to garden to be open 

more hours and greater access to café.  

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 O’Brien remarked that the change is mind-boggling over past two years. Such a delight to come in. Farnan 

agreed that the disposition of the staff is amazing. Give them the tools to achieve a higher level.  
 Sutter noted that all sorts of people visit NoBo and he was impressed by the amount of business.  
 Sutter reviewed priorities and evaluated their process.  
 In regards to supporting the idea of the community platform, Sutter asked if they can support further. Farnan 

appreciated their support of partnerships to help build the space and services. 
 Sutter asked how the website was going. Farnan noted that they are working to maximize the space. Part of a 

larger conversation on the digital branch. Felt much can be incorporated into master plan.  
 Sutter and Teter confirmed that opportunities to work on civic area planning have not yet fully begun.  
 O’Brien noted that the commission is doing a great job in covering their priorities.  
 Sutter asked if the space is welcoming still – Farnan explained that the library experiences minimal criminal 

activity and behavioral problems – addressing aggressively was effective.  
 O’Brien asked if the next meeting will include looking at goals for the following year. To be discussed in 

October. All agreed.  
 

Agenda Item 6:  Discuss the 2015 Ballot Issue on Charter Amendment                       [6:54 p.m., Audio 52:39 min] 

Sutter noted the flurry of activity to undo messiness from City Council readings when sections were merged. Response 

included new approach to funding which removed library fund. Mayor intervened to clarify. Back to final ballot 

language. Final reading is in handout, found here: https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-LC-

Handouts.pdf#page=2 . Discussion on whether Library Commission can make a statement. League of Women Voters 

(LWV) asked for position with pros and cons. Sutter asked if useful for the endorsement. Farnan noted that it seems as 

if you cannot – staff is waiting for final response. Can respond as individuals, but cannot present as Library 

Commission.  

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

Packet Page 1061

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-LC-Handouts.pdf#page=2
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-LC-Handouts.pdf#page=2


   

 
 

 Question about where on ballot – Miles did not get confirmation from City Clerk’s Office before meeting, but 

should be 2
nd

 quarter.  
 O’Shea asked if conflict if he spoke to Boulder Chamber of Commerce for endorsement.  
 Sutter felt website is unclear on basic goal and background.  
 Sutter recommended proposed draft statement may be a good list of talking points.  
 O’Brien felt that in the past, endorsements were not a possibility.  
 Sutter to follow up with LWV and the Daily Camera.  
 Teter asked for way to make link more obvious. 
 Sutter called break at 7:10- 1 hr. 8 min 29 sec. 

 

Agenda Item 7: Library Master Plan update (p. 15-21)                                                  [7:21p.m., Audio 1:08:29 hr] 

Draft RFP, RFQ for consultants. Looking for community engagement options for scope of work. Farnan noted that 

many people are invested in the future of libraries. Key usage patterns of the public. Usage and demographic data is 

key. Find out any barriers to use. See how community feels about current services. Largely about “bricks and clicks” – 

buildings and the virtual services we provide. Renovations of current facilities. Survey from Gunbarrel folks. Better 

understanding who the virtual users are. Sit down to consider public computer provisions. High end technology and 

maker spaces? Primary reason for visits is books. Move towards virtual services. Collections providing movies and 

music. STEAM programming. How do we navigate fundraising, fee-based programs, volunteerism? Central question: 

What is the library’s role in the community? We are a trusted source. Is the library a place to convene a civic dialogue? 

Free and open access, net neutrality, early literacy, information literacy, computation literacy.  Miles noted looking for 

input on the list. Anything missing? Feedback on community engagement ideas. 

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Teter asked about the focus areas that will be narrowed down via community engagement. Miles answered 

that we’d like to narrow those down with community feedback.  
 O’Shea noted overlap in planned marketing, wary of putting out a survey to folks who are not regular users 

and do not know what has been done. O’Shea would prefer surveys that algorithmically tune to the audience, 

based on their level of awareness, instead of a long form, impersonal survey. The survey can act as an 

additional marketing piece for libraries in educating about the services libraries provide. Educating while 

engaging. Align marketing with survey and outreach. 
 Teter felt that the survey should come later in the process following significant outreach. O’Shea noted from 

past experience that he, and others, complete surveys when they value the service, but have a limit on how 

long a survey can be. Noted non-users are hard and expensive to reach, and not always useful.  
 Master plan steering committee to be established later in the year and may assist on how to do it.  
 Sutter summarized that the commissioners would like to see some groundwork before a broad survey is sent 

out to the community – largely the commission and leadership to steer the results of the master plan.  
 Sutter hoped to find the relationship between master plan advisory and the Library Commission. Sutter asked 

if it is the core committee or just one vehicle.  
 O’Shea asked for budget for outreach; Miles noted that there is an overarching budget but total has not been 

parsed out yet.  
 Teter felt that it was not the best use of funds and time to bring consultants to the meeting. Miles intended to 

bring them first as an introduction, and later to provide feedback on the process.  
 Teter thinks it is best to hold open houses in other locations instead of simply asking for people to attend at the 

library. O’Brien recalled impressive turnout during renovations – noted many populations showed up with 

sending out invitations and all provided invaluable feedback.  
 O’Brien noted not against surveys when done properly. Wants to avoid poorly written hook statements. 

Appreciated previous surveys that allowed for flexibility based on responses.  
 O’Shea asked about the turn around for phone surveys that try to reach non-users.  
 Importance of understanding the community embedded in the survey response – how to balance, how different 

is Boulder – get the consultants to explain how they intend to address that balance. Sutter dynamic, innovative, 

playful process.  
 Farnan remarked that the greatest discovery with surveys is the realization that staff’s ideas deviate from that 

of the public – interesting to see what the community has moved past or beyond.  
 

Agenda Item 8: Library Commission update (from handout)                                      [8:12p.m., Audio 1:59:37 hr] 

 

Item 8A, Future Agenda Items 

This item can be found in the Library Commission memo, found here: https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-

content/uploads/2014/12/2015-LC-Handouts.pdf#page=9 . Regarding proposed meetings, accept regular meeting dates 

and locations as shown on revised handout as schedule for 2016 – retreat to be determined at a later time. Approved 

Packet Page 1062

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-LC-Handouts.pdf#page=9
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-LC-Handouts.pdf#page=9


   

 
 

 

Commissioner Sutter approved these minutes on Nov. 4, 2015; and Jennifer Phares attested to it. 

 

An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Library Commission web page 

at http://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission.html 

 

without conflict. 

 

Item 8B, Discussion of Library Commission job description 

O’Shea presented preliminary job description. Sutter appreciated inclusion of the mission, but would prefer a more 

mechanical document.  (ends 2:30 hr) 

 

Item 8C, Boulder Library Foundation update  

Commissioners will receive email from O’Brien in the next week with a flier for Oct. 16, 2015 event and cover letter to 

be sent to respective spheres of influence. Considering a paid executive director who is paid through the library.  

 

Item 8D, Update on patron email responses from the Library Commission 

 

Item 8E, Update on Jaipur Literature Festival 

Jaipur Literature Festival at Boulder begins in 16 days, for those who have not yet registered. 

 

Agenda Item 9: Library and Arts Director’s Report (p. 22-26)                                  [8:45 p.m., Audio 2:32:17 hr] 

 

Item 9A, Citizenship Ceremony 

 

Item 9B, Youth Services 

 

Item 9C, Outreach 

 

 Item 9D, Maker Space 

 

Item 9E, Discover Earth Workshop 

 

Item 9F, 2015 Jan. – July Library statistical summary 

New statistics provided in handout, found here:  https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-

Packet.pdf#page=24  

All numbers pointing in the right direction. Finally showing an increase as of July. Matching pre-renovation numbers. 

Many new card holders – remarkable number. Door counts up, likely reflective of extended hours. Sutter asked if 

change in hours at Carnegie has caused consternation. Teter commented that value is not driven by point-in-time use – 

value resides in use over time; an investment in the future.  

 

 Item 9G, 2016 Library holiday closures 

Closures are customary. Staff training day is not on there, but we do intend to do one in 2016 as well. Oct. 16 is All-

Staff Day and commissioners will be receiving invitations – lots of great information to share, including Wendy Hall to 

demonstrate how to spin wool out of dog hair. 

 

Agenda Item 10:  Adjournment                                                                                        [8:29 p.m., Audio 2:29:50 hr] 

There being no further business to come before the commission at this time, the meeting was adjourned at 8:29 p.m. 

 

Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 

The next Library Commission meeting will be at 6:00 p.m. on Wed., Oct. 7, 2015, in the Canyon Meeting Room at the 

Main Library, 1001 Arapahoe Ave., Boulder, CO 80302. 

 

Packet Page 1063

http://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission.html
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf#page=24
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Sept-LC-Packet.pdf#page=24


 
 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Open Space Board of Trustees 

DATE OF MEETING: November 16, 2015 

NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Leah Case  x2025 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT:   

 

MEMBERS:  Shelley Dunbar , Frances Hartogh, Molly Davis, Kevin Bracy Knight, Tom Isaacson 

 

STAFF:  Tracy Winfree, Jim Reeder, Steve Armstead, Mark Gershman, Juliet Bonnell, Phil Yates,     

Deryn Wagner, Heather Swanson, Lynne Sullivan, Kelly Wasserbach, Annie McFarland, Leah Case                 

Alycia Alexander     

 

GUESTS: Val Matheson, Urban Wildlife Conservation Coordinator; Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning 

Manager  

 

TYPE OF MEETING:                     REGULAR        CONTINUATION          SPECIAL 

SUMMATION:  

 

AGENDA ITEM 1- Approval of the Minutes 

Tom Isaacson moved the Open Space Board of Trustees to approve the minutes from Oct. 14, 2015 as 

amended. Shelley Dunbar seconded. This motion passed unanimously. 

 

AGENDA ITEM 2- Public Participation 

Ray Bridge, on behalf of the Boulder County Audubon Society, said staff and the Board need to consider 

wildlife and the Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Charter when planning trail and recreation 

opportunities. He said trail studies need to take place before drawling lines on the map.   

 

Karen Hollweg, Boulder, said the reroute on the Towhee Trail exemplifies what should take place on all 

natural areas throughout the system. It is possible to build a trail while still protecting other natural 

resources. 

 

AGENDA ITEM 3- Matters from Staff  

Val Matheson, Urban Wildlife Conservation Coordinator, gave a presentation to the Board on a recent Bear 

Study 

 

Lesli Ellis, gave an update on the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan for 2015 

 

 

Packet Page 1064



AGENDA ITEM 4- Matters from the Board 

Shelley notified the Board that in December the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) will be asked to 

provide feedback to council for their 2016 Retreat.  

 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 6:53 p.m. 

 

ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS:   

None.  

 

TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   

The next OSBT meeting will be Wed. Dec. 9 at 6 p.m. at 1777 Broadway in the Council Chambers  

 

Packet Page 1065



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 1Packet Page 1066



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 2Packet Page 1067



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 3Packet Page 1068



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 4Packet Page 1069



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 5Packet Page 1070



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 6Packet Page 1071



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 7Packet Page 1072



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 8Packet Page 1073



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 9Packet Page 1074



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 10Packet Page 1075



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 11Packet Page 1076



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 12Packet Page 1077



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 13Packet Page 1078



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 14Packet Page 1079



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 15Packet Page 1080



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 16Packet Page 1081



Boards and Commissions 
PB 10-29-15

3D     Page 17Packet Page 1082



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 1Packet Page 1083



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 2Packet Page 1084



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 3Packet Page 1085



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 4Packet Page 1086



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 5Packet Page 1087



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 6Packet Page 1088



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 7Packet Page 1089



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 8Packet Page 1090



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 9Packet Page 1091



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 10Packet Page 1092



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-05-15

3E     Page 11Packet Page 1093



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 1Packet Page 1094



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 2Packet Page 1095



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 3Packet Page 1096



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 4Packet Page 1097



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 5Packet Page 1098



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 6Packet Page 1099



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 7Packet Page 1100



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 8Packet Page 1101



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 9Packet Page 1102



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 10Packet Page 1103



Boards and Commissions 
PB 11-19-15

3F     Page 11Packet Page 1104


	IP Cover
	2A Open Space and Mountain Parks Agricultural Resources Management Plan Update
	Executive Summary
	Fiscal impact, Community Sustainability Assessments and Impacts
	Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Diversified Vegetable Farms and Micro-Dairies 
	Attachment B - Bobolink Management Areas
	Attachment C - Alternative Agriculture Policy 
	Attachment D - Agricultural Structures

	2B Rocky Mountain Greenway Trail
	Executive Summary
	Overall project significance, Project teams  
	Study area, Potential alignments
	Relationship to Open Space and Mountain Parks North TSA
	Project status, Community awareness and engagement
	Outreach and engagement strategies, Proposed outreach tools and tactics
	Next Steps and timeline of outreach efforts

	3A BoZA - 10-08-15
	3B LC - 09-02-15
	3C OSBT - 11-16-15
	3D PB - 10-29-15
	3E PB - 11-05-15
	3F PB - 11-19-15



